
Scrutiny Standing  
Panel Agenda 

1 

 
 
 
 
Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel 
Monday, 11th February, 2008 
 
Place: Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Time: 7.00 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

A Hendry - Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01992 564246 Email: ahendry@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors J M Whitehouse (Chairman), G Mohindra (Vice-Chairman), R Bassett, J Hart, 
M Colling, D Jacobs, R Morgan, Mrs P Richardson, Mrs P Smith and A Watts 
 
 
 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is being filmed.  
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection 
Act. Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy and copies made available to those that request it. 
 
Therefore by entering the Chamber and using the lower public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for web casting and/or training purposes. If members of the public do not 
wish to have their image captured they should sit in the upper council chamber 
public gallery area 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Senior Democratic 
Services Officer on 01992 564249. 
 
 

 1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION   
 

  1. This meeting is to be webcast. Members are reminded of the need to activate 
their microphones before speaking.  
 
2. The Chairman will read the following announcement: 
 

 



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Monday, 11 February 2008 
 

2 

“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to the 
Internet and will be capable of repeated viewing and copies of the recording could be 
made available for those that request it. 
 
If you are seated in the lower public seating area it is likely that the recording cameras 
will capture your image and this will result in the possibility that your image will 
become part of the broadcast. 
 
This may infringe your human and data protection rights and if you have any concerns 
about this, you should speak to the webcasting officer” 
 

 2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive)  To report the appointment of any substitute 
members for the meeting. 
 

 4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive). To declare interests in any items on the agenda. 
 
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
 
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
 
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 
purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 

 5. NOTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 14 JANUARY 2008  (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

  To consider and agree the notes of the meeting the Panel held on 14 January 2008. 
 
 

 6. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

  (Chairman/Lead Officer) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed the Terms 
of Reference of this Panel and associated Work Programme. This is attached. The 
Panel are asked at each meeting to review both documents. 
 

 7. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2007/08 - QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING  (Pages 11 - 50) 

 
  (Deputy Chief Executive) to consider the attached report. 

 
 8. USE OF RESOURCES ASSESSMENT - AUDITOR JUDGEMENTS 2007  (Pages 51 

- 72) 



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Monday, 11 February 2008 
 

3 

 
  (Deputy Chief Executive) to consider the attached report. 

 
 9. BEST VALUE PERFORMANCE PLAN 2008/09 - SUMMARY VERSION  (Pages 73 - 

82) 
 

  (Deputy Chief Executive) to consider the attached report. 
 
 

 10. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL MONITORING  (Pages 83 - 100) 
 

  (Director of Finance and ICT) to consider the attached report. 
 

 11. NATIONAL OUTCOME AND INDICATOR SET  (Pages 101 - 116) 
 

  (Deputy Chief Executive) to consider the attached report. 
 
 

 12. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   

 
  To consider which reports are ready to be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee at its next meeting. 
 

 13. FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

  To note this is the last scheduled meeting of the Panel for this municipal year. 
However, an extra meeting might be needed in March 2008. The following dates have 
been identified as being free. The Panel is asked to decide on a suitable date from the 
following: 
 

• Tuesday, 11 March 
• Thursday, 13 March 
• Tuesday, 25 March and  
• Thursday 27 March 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTES OF A MEETING OF FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY 

PANEL
HELD ON MONDAY, 14 JANUARY 2008 

IN COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC OFFICES, HIGH STREET, EPPING 
AT 7.00  - 8.15 PM 

Members
Present:

J M Whitehouse (Chairman), G Mohindra (Vice-Chairman), R Bassett, 
J Hart, M Colling, R Morgan, Mrs P Richardson and Mrs P Smith 

Other members 
present:

Mrs D Collins, M Cohen, A Green, Mrs A Grigg, Mrs M Sartin, 
Ms S Stavrou and C Whitbread 

Apologies for 
Absence:

D Jacobs 

Officers Present D Macnab (Deputy Chief Executive), J Gilbert (Director of Environment 
and Street Scene), R Palmer (Director of Finance and ICT), J Preston 
(Director of Planning and Economic Development), A Hall (Director of 
Housing), P Maddock (Assistant Head of Finance), J Bissell (Principal 
Accountant), R Sharp (Principal Accountant), A Hendry (Democratic 
Services Officer) and S Mitchell (PR Website Editor) 

32. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION  

The Chairman made a short address to remind all present that the meeting would be 
broadcast on the Internet, and that the Council had adopted a protocol for the 
webcasting of its meetings. The Panel noted the Council’s Protocol for Webcasting of 
Council and Other Meetings. 

33. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)  

The Panel noted that there were no substitute members. 

34. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

No declarations of interest were made. 

35. NOTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING - 13 NOVEMBER 2007  

The notes from the last meeting, held on 13 November 2007, were agreed. 

36. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  

The Panel noted  the work programme and terms of reference. It was noted that the 
review of Customer Services and ICT would start once the staff reorganisation had 
taken place. 

37. DRAFT DETAILED PORTFOLIO BUDGETS  

The Director of Finance and ICT introduced the report containing the breakdown of 
individual Portfolio Holders budget for 2008/09. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Monday, 14 January 2008 

2

It was intended that the recommendations from the Panel would go to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 31 January 2008. Cabinet will then consider the 
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Finance and 
Performance Cabinet Committee. Cabinet will then recommend a budget and Council 
Tax to Council for approval on 19 February 2008. 

The following detailed information was provided for each Portfolio: 

(i) Estimate Summary – containing actual figures for 2006/07, original and 
revised estimates for 2007/08 and gross and net figures for 2008/09. 

(ii) Development Fund & Growth Items – containing development fund and 
growth proposals, original and revised for 2007/08 and original 2008/09. 

(iii) Detailed Estimates – containing figures and comments on each distinct area 
of the Portfolio. 

The Panel considered the detailed Portfolio Holder budgets asking for clarification on 
a number of points from officers and Portfolio Holders. The issue of difficult to let 
garages came up. The Director of Housing said he would  draw up a list of these 
garages and publish it in the Members Bulletin so that members would be aware of 
any in their area. 

RECOMMENDED to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee/ Cabinet: 

That the draft Portfolio Holder budgets be endorsed and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet be informed accordingly. 

38. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

To report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that this Panel had 
considered in detail, the draft Portfolio Holder budgets. They did not have any 
comments to add and had no particular issues to raise to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

39. FUTURE MEETINGS  

Noted that the last meeting of this Panel for this municipal year was scheduled for 11 
February 2008. 

Page 6



 

TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL 
 
 
Title:  Finance and Performance Management (incorporating work from the Customer 
Services and ICT Standing Panel) 
 
 
 
Status:  Standing Panel 
 
 
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
Performance Management 
 
1. To review Best Value Performance Indicator (BVPI) and Local Performance 

Indicator (LPI) outturns for the previous year at the commencement of each 
municipal year, and to determine the following on an annual basis: 

 
(a) The criteria for deciding which BVPIs and LPIs should be formally monitored 

by the Panel throughout the remainder of the year, based upon the ‘traffic light‘ 
system of performance reporting, Comprehensive Performance Assessment 
improvements, and existing council and member priorities; 

 
(b) A ‘basket’ of priority BVPIs and LPIs, performance against which will be 

reported to the Panel throughout the year; 
 

(c) The monitoring frequency of those priority BVPIs and LPIs identified by the 
Panel; 

 
(d) Arrangements for the wider member reporting and monitoring of performance 

against those BVPIs and LPIs that are not contained in the Panel’s ‘basket’ of 
high priority indicators; 

 
2. To consider proposals and make recommendations for corrective action in relation 

to poorly performing BVPIs and LPIs; 
 
Best Value Performance Plan 
 
3. To consider and make recommendations as appropriate on the format and content 

of the Council’s annual Best Value Performance Plan; 
 
Council Plan 
 
4. To undertake a full review of the existing Council Plan and to make 

recommendations to the Cabinet on the overall strategic vision to be adopted, within 
the context of how the authority intends to prioritise resources and develop services 
in the medium term; 

 
Public Consultation 
 
5. To develop arrangements to directly engage the community in commenting on and 

shaping the future direction of services to make them more responsive to local 
needs, including the development of proposals for effective consultation through an 

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



 

annual community conference;  
 
6. To annually review the consultation exercises undertaken by the council over the 

previous year. 
 
Finance 
 
7. To consider the draft budgets for each portfolio and in so doing to evaluate and rank 

proposals for either enhancing or reducing services. Members will need to ensure 
consistency between wider policy objectives and financial demands. 

 
8. To consider financial monitoring reports on key areas of income and expenditure for 

each portfolio.  
 
Customer Services and ICT 
 
9. The Panel to consider feedback from the Customers Services Working Group to    

ensure that the Panel is kept up to date on current customer service activities across 
all service areas. 

 
10. To monitor and review progress on the implementation of all major ICT systems: 

• Review of the Web-Casting System. 
 
 

 

Page 8



Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 –
 W

or
k 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

A
s 

at
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

00
8 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t D
ea

dl
in

e/
 

P
rio

rit
y 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
/ C

om
m

en
ts

 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 
fu

tu
re

 m
ee

tin
gs

 

(1
) B

es
t V

al
ue

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 P
la

n 
20

07
/0

8 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
an

nu
al

ly
 - 

en
d 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
A

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 fo
r c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

of
 F

ul
l B

V
P

P
 fo

r 2
00

7/
08

 
ag

re
ed

 o
n 

12
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
07

. B
V

P
P

 fo
r 2

00
8/

09
 to

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 in

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

08
. 

(2
) K

ey
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 - 
Q

ua
rte

rly
 M

on
ito

rin
g 

 
R

ep
or

ts
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
on

 
a 

qu
ar

te
rly

 b
as

is
. 

U
nd

er
w

ay
 F

irs
t Q

ua
rte

r i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
t t

he
  1

4 
A

ug
us

t 2
00

7 
m

ee
tin

g.
 N

ex
t q

ua
rte

rly
 fi

gu
re

s 
w

en
t t

o 
th

e 
13

 N
ov

em
be

r ‘
07

 m
ee

tin
g.

 

(3
) Q

ua
rte

rly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
R

ep
or

ts
 to

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 o

n 
a 

qu
ar

te
rly

 b
as

is
. 

U
nd

er
w

ay
: F

irs
t Q

ua
rte

r i
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
w

as
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
on

 
14

 A
ug

us
t ’

07
. N

ex
t q

ua
rte

rly
 fi

gu
re

s 
w

en
t t

o 
th

e 
13

 
N

ov
em

be
r ‘

07
 m

ee
tin

g.
 

(4
) P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 (S

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 b

e 
sc

ru
tin

is
ed

 in
 R

ot
at

io
n)

 
C

om
pl

et
ed

 
C

om
pl

et
ed

: P
an

el
 lo

ok
ed

 a
t t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’
s 

la
nd

 a
nd

 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

t t
he

 N
ov

em
be

r m
ee

tin
g.

 

(5
) L

oc
al

 A
re

a 
A

gr
ee

m
en

t –
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
 

R
ep

or
ts

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

on
 

a 
si

x 
m

on
th

ly
 b

as
is

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

fro
m

 s
ta

rt 
of

 2
00

7/
08

 
m

un
ic

ip
al

 y
ea

r. 
N

ex
t r

ep
or

t d
ue

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

08
. 

(6
) C

ou
nc

il 
P

la
n 

20
06

-2
01

0 
– 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
R

ep
or

t c
on

si
de

re
d 

on
 

an
 a

nn
ua

l b
as

is
. 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 C

ou
nc

il 
Pl

an
 c

om
pl

et
ed

.  
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
co

m
m

en
ce

d 
fro

m
 s

ta
rt 

of
 2

00
7/

08
 m

un
ic

ip
al

 
ye

ar
. N

ex
t r

ep
or

t d
ue

 M
ay

/J
un

e 
20

08
. 

(7
) A

nn
ua

l V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 

A
na

ly
si

s 
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
: S

ub
–G

ro
up

 s
et

 u
p 

to
 c

on
si

de
r V

FM
 A

na
ly

si
s 

fo
r 2

00
6/

07
. S

ub
-G

ro
up

 m
et

 o
n 

8 
M

ar
ch

 2
00

7 
to

 c
on

si
de

r 
th

e 
an

al
ys

is
 a

nd
 p

ro
po

se
 a

re
as

 fo
r p

os
si

bl
e 

Ta
sk

 a
nd

 
Fi

ni
sh

 P
an

el
s.

 T
he

 S
ub

-G
ro

up
 s

ug
ge

st
ed

 th
e 

VF
M

 o
n 

P
la

nn
in

g 
Ta

sk
 a

nd
 F

in
is

h 
P

an
el

. 

 11
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
08

 
    

Page 9



Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 –
 W

or
k 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

A
s 

at
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

00
8 

(8
) C

P
A

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

la
n 

– 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

on
ito

rin
g 

 

R
ep

or
ts

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

on
 

a 
si

x-
m

on
th

ly
 b

as
is

 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
of

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

 C
P

A
 a

ct
io

ns
  

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

fro
m

 s
ta

rt 
of

 2
00

7/
08

 m
un

ic
ip

al
 y

ea
r. 

N
ex

t 
re

po
rt 

du
e 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
00

8.
 

(9
) A

nn
ua

l C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

P
la

n 
 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
on

 
an

 a
nn

ua
l b

as
is

. 
C

on
su

lta
tio

n 
P

la
n 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 a

t f
irs

t m
ee

tin
g 

of
 e

ac
h 

m
un

ic
ip

al
 y

ea
r. 

N
ex

t r
ep

or
t d

ue
 M

ay
/J

un
e 

20
08

 

(1
0)

 V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 in

 L
ei

su
re

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
  a

t J
un

e 
20

07
 m

ee
tin

g.
 

 

(1
1)

 D
et

ai
le

d 
P

or
tfo

lio
 B

ud
ge

ts
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 - 

A
nn

ua
l r

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 P
or

tfo
lio

 h
ol

de
rs

 
bu

dg
et

s.
 

 

(1
2)

 M
ed

iu
m

 T
er

m
 F

in
an

ci
al

 
S

tra
te

gy
 

To
 g

o 
to

 th
e 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
08

 m
ee

tin
g.

 
To

 re
vi

ew
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il’
s 

m
ed

iu
m

 te
rm

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
tra

te
gy

. 
 

 

Page 10



 

Report to: Finance and Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 11 February 2008 
 
 
 
 
Portfolio:  Finance, Performance Management and Corporate Support Services (Councillor 
C. Whitbread) 
 
Subject: Key Performance Indicators 2007/08 – Quarterly Performance Monitoring 
 
Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (Performance Improvement Manager) 
(Ext 4180) 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  A. Hendry (Ext 4246) 
 
 

 
Recommendation: 

 
That the Scrutiny Panel consider the Council’s performance for the first nine months 
of 2007/08, in relation to those Key Performance Indicators adopted by the Cabinet that 
are monitored on a quarterly basis; 
 
Report: 
 
Background 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) As the Scrutiny Panel will be aware, a range of forty-three 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2007/08 was adopted by the Cabinet at it’s meeting on 
16 July 2007. Details of the KPIs are set out at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2. The KPIs are crucial to the Council’s core business and its corporate priorities, and 
comprise a mixture of both current Best Value and Local Performance Indicators 
(BVPIs/LPIs). The aim of the KPIs is to focus improvement on key areas and to move 
performance against each indicator into the top quartile of performing local authorities (where 
appropriate) and to then maintain or improve further on that level of performance. In adopting 
the KPIs for 2007/08, the Cabinet set a target for at least 75% to achieve top quartile (or 
other appropriate target) performance by the end of the year.  
 
3. Annual improvement plans are produced for each of the KPIs, setting out actions to 
be implemented in to achieve or maintain top quartile performance, and to reflect year on 
year changes. In view of the corporate importance attached to the KPIs, the improvement 
plans are considered and agreed by Management Board. 
 
4. Progress in achieving top quartile performance in respect of the KPIs is reported to 
the Scrutiny Panel and the relevant Portfolio Holder at the conclusion of each quarter. 
Members have previously agreed however that little change is likely over each three month 
period for the following twelve indicators, and that performance in these areas be subject to 
detailed scrutiny at year-end only:  
 

BVPI 2(b) (Race equality) 
BVPI 11(a), 11(b), 11(c) (Equal opportunities monitoring) 

 Agenda Item 7

Page 11



 

BVPI 16(a) (Disabled employees) 
BVPI 17(a) (Ethnic minority employees) 
BVPI 63 (Energy efficiency of council dwellings) 
BVPI 106 (New homes on previously developed land) 
BVPI 156 (Disabled access to council buildings) 
BVPI 184(a), 184(b) (Decent Homes Standard) 
BVPI 199(d) (Local Environmental Cleanliness) (Fly-tipping) 

 
5. At its meeting on 13 November 2007, the Scrutiny Panel adopted the following range 
of additional LPIs in relation to the Council’s asset management function, in response to 
recommendations arising from the annual Use of Resources assessment undertaken by the 
Audit Commission. The Commission has highlighted that these indicators should be used to 
evaluate asset use in relation to corporate objectives, and that they are monitored by 
members to embed this element of performance management: 
 

AM PPI 1 Property condition (condition category and backlog maintenance); 
AM PPI 2 Internal rate of return from non-operational portfolio; 
AM PPI 3 Annual management costs (operational and non-operational properties); 
AM PPI 4 Running costs and carbon dioxide emissions; 
AM PPI 5 Cost and time predictability of capital projects; 
AM LPI 1 Rent arrears as a percentage of rental income; 
AM LPI 2 The occupation rate of commercial and industrial property; and 
AM LPI 3 Rental value as a percentage yield of the commercial and industrial portfolio 
asset value. 

 
6. The Director of Corporate Support Services considers that performance against these 
asset management LPIs would best be reported and monitored at year end, and they will 
therefore be reported to the next meeting of the Panel. 
 
KPI Performance 2007/08 – Quarters 1, 2 and 3 (1 April to 31 December 2007) 
 
7. Performance reports for each of the thirty-one KPIs that are monitored on a quarterly 
basis, for the period from 1 April to 31 December 2007, are attached as Appendix 2. The 
individual KPI performance reports incorporate the improvement actions arising from the 
development of the annual improvement plan for each indicator, where these have been 
considered and agreed by Management Board. Members will also note that the annual 
performance targets for several of the KPIs have also been divided into quarterly cumulative 
targets, to more accurately illustrate performance throughout the year. 
 
8. The current position with regard to the achievement of the top quartile (or other 
relevant) targets set for the thirty-one quarterly monitored KPIs, is as follows: 
 

(a) 17 (54.8%) have so far achieved the overall performance target for 2007/08 or the 
respective cumulative nine-month target; and 

 
(b) 14 (45.2%) have not so far achieved the overall performance target for 2007/08 or 

the respective cumulative nine-month target. 
 

9. In compiling the KPI performance reports, directors are required to indicate whether it 
is likely that the respective targets will be achieved for each indicator by the end of the year. 
Of the 14 (45.2%) of the quarterly monitored KPIs that have not so far achieved the overall 
performance target for 2007/08 or the respective cumulative nine-month target, all have been 
described by the relevant director as being uncertain or not likely to achieve the target. 
 
10. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to consider the Council’s performance for the first six 
months of 2007/08 in relation to the quarterly monitored KPIs. Responsible directors will be in 
attendance at the meeting to respond to any questions raised in respect of current 

Page 12



 

performance against specific indicators and targets. In accordance with previously agreed 
arrangements, performance reports for Quarters 1, 2 and 3 in respect of all other BVPIs and 
LPIs have been deposited in the Members’ Room. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
11. To ensure that the Council monitors progress against its aim of achieving top quartile 
district council performance of 75% of its key performance indicators for 2007/08, and that 
proposals for corrective action are considered in respect of areas of current under-
performance. 
 
Options Considered and Rejected: 
 
12. None. The Council has previously agreed arrangements for monitoring progress 
against the KPIs, BVPIs and LPIs. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
13. The performance information and improvement actions set out in this report have 
been compiled by each appropriate service director.  
 
Resource implications:  
 
Budget/Personnel/Land: The respective Director will identify the resource requirements for 
any proposals for corrective action in respect of KPI areas of current under-performance set 
out in this report. 
Council Plan/Best Value Performance Plan Reference: Council Plan Section 8 – ‘How We 
Measure Our Achievements’. 
Relevant Statutory Powers: None 
Background Papers: None 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: As set out in 
respective performance reports for individual KPIs. 
Key Decision Reference (if required): None 
 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



K
P

I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
2
(b

)*

B
V

P
I
1
5
6
*

B
V

P
I
1
7
5

L
P

I
E

H
6 K

P
I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
6
3
*

B
V

P
I
6
6
(a

)

B
V

P
I
1
8
3
(b

)

B
V

P
I
1
8
4
(a

)*

B
V

P
I
1
8
4
(b

)*

B
V

P
I
2
1
2

L
P

I
H

1
5
(a

)

L
P

I
H

1
5
(b

)

K
P

I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
0
8

B
V

P
I
0
9

B
V

P
I
1
0

K
E

Y
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2
0
0
7
/0

8

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r

A
.
H

a
ll

D
e
fi

n
it

io
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

C
o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

c
o
lle

c
te

d
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

in
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

N
o
n
-D

o
m

e
s
ti
c

R
a
te

s
c
o
lle

c
te

d
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

in
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

lic
e
n
c
e

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
d

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

s
ta

tu
to

ry
p
e
ri
o
d

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

W
e
ll
b

e
in

g
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

T
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

w
h
ic

h
w

e
re

n
o
n
-d

e
c
e
n
t
a
t 
th

e
s
ta

rt
o
f 

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
ye

a
r

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

c
h
a
n
g
e

in
 t
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

n
o
n
-d

e
c
e
n
t
C

o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e

s
ta

rt
a
n
d

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
ye

a
r

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e
 t
im

e
(d

a
ys

) 
ta

k
e
n
 t
o

re
-l
e
t
C

o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
m

e
s

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

a
n
d

re
a
d
y

fo
r

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

in
vo

ic
e
s

fo
r

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
g
o
o
d
s

a
n
d

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t
w

e
re

p
a
id

b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

w
it
h
in

3
0

d
a
ys

o
f

re
c
e
ip

t
o
r

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

a
g
re

e
d

p
a
ym

e
n
t

te
rm

s

A
.
H

a
ll

A
.
H

a
ll

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

T
h
e

a
m

o
u
n
t
o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in

g
re

q
u
ir
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f

S
e
c
ti
o
n

1
0
6

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

s
ig

n
e
d

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

fo
r

a
ll

la
rg

e
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l
d
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t
s
it
e
s

(i
n

e
xc

e
s
s

o
f

1
5

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

o
r

0
.5

h
e
c
ta

re
),

e
xp

re
s
s
e
d

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
ta

l
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

h
o
m

e
s
 t
o

b
e

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

o
n

la
rg

e
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l
d
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

s
it
e
s

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

A
.
H

a
ll

D
.
M

a
c
n
a
b

D
e
fi

n
it

io
n

T
h
e

q
u
a
lit

y
o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
R

a
c
e

E
q
u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
a
n
d
 t
h
e

im
p
ro

ve
m

e
n
ts

re
s
u
lt
in

g
fr

o
m

it
s

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
b
u
ild

in
g
s

o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e

p
u
b
lic

in
w

h
ic

h
a
ll

p
u
b
lic

a
re

a
s

a
re

s
u
it
a
b
le

fo
r,

a
n
d

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
,
d
is

a
b
le

d
p
e
o
p
le

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

ra
c
ia

l
in

c
id

e
n
ts

re
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il 

th
a
t
re

s
u
lt
e
d

in
fu

rt
h
e
r

a
c
ti
o
n

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

S
A

P
(e

n
e
rg

y
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y)

ra
ti
n
g

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

R
e
n
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
s

a
p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
n
ts

o
w

e
d

o
n

H
o
u
s
in

g
R

e
ve

n
u
e

A
c
c
o
u
n
t
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

*
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
in

s
t 
th

e
s
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
is

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
o
n

a
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
(y

e
a
r-

e
n
d
)

b
a
s
is

o
n
ly

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

le
n
g
th

o
f

s
ta

y
(w

e
e
k
s
)

in
h
o
s
te

l
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 t
h
a
t
a
re

u
n
in

te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

a
n
d

in
p
ri
o
ri
ty

n
e
e
d

H
o

u
s
in

g
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

A
.
H

a
ll

A
.
H

a
ll

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r

A
.
H

a
ll

A
.
H

a
ll

F
in

a
n

c
e
,
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r
D

e
fi

n
it

io
n

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

*
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
in

s
t 
th

e
s
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
is

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
o
n

a
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
(y

e
a
r-

e
n
d
)

b
a
s
is

o
n
ly

Page 15



B
V

P
I
1
1
(a

)*

B
V

P
I
1
1
(b

)*

B
V

P
I
1
1
(c

)*

B
V

P
I
1
2

B
V

P
I
1
4

B
V

P
I
1
6
(a

)*

B
V

P
I
1
7
(a

)*

B
V

P
I
7
8
(a

)

B
V

P
I
7
8
(b

)

B
V

P
I
7
9
(a

)

K
P

I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
8
2
(a

)(
i)

B
V

P
I
8
2
(a

)(
ii)

B
V

P
I
8
2
(b

)(
i)

B
V

P
I
8
2
(b

)(
ii)

B
V

P
I
8
4

B
V

P
I
9
1
(a

)

B
V

P
I
1
6
6

B
V

P
I
1
9
9
(a

)

B
V

P
I
1
9
9
(b

)

B
V

P
I
1
9
9
(c

)

B
V

P
I
1
9
9
(d

)*

K
P

I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
1
0
6
*

B
V

P
I
1
0
9
(a

)

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

w
o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

/s
h
if
ts

lo
s
t 
to

 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

d
u
e
 t
o

s
ic

k
n
e
s
s

a
b
s
e
n
c
e

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

'm
a
jo

r'
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

1
3

w
e
e
k
s

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
e
w

h
o
m

e
s

b
u
ilt

o
n

p
re

vi
o
u
s
ly

d
e
ve

lo
p
e
d

la
n
d

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
p
-p

a
id

5
%

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
s
ta

ff
w

h
o

a
re

w
o
m

e
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
p

5
%

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
s
ta

ff
w

h
o

a
re

fr
o
m

a
n

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
p

5
%

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
s
ta

ff
w

h
o

h
a
ve

a
d
is

a
b
ili

ty

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

C
.
O

'B
o
yl

e

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

T
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t
a
n

e
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
h
e
a
lt
h

s
e
rv

ic
e

c
h
e
c
k
lis

t

T
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
le

va
n
t
la

n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
ys

in
 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d

a
s

h
a
vi

n
g

c
o
m

b
in

e
d

d
e
p
o
s
it
s

o
f

lit
te

r
a
n
d

d
e
tr

it
u
s
 t
h
a
t
fa

ll
b
e
lo

w
a
n

a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

le
ve

l

T
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
le

va
n
t
la

n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
ys

in
 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
a
t
w

h
ic

h
u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

le
ve

ls
o
f

g
ra

ff
it
i
a
re

vi
s
ib

le

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

re
ti
ri
n
g

e
a
rl
y

(e
xc

lu
d
in

g
ill

-h
e
a
lt
h

re
ti
re

m
e
n
ts

)
a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 t
o
ta

l
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

w
it
h

a
d
is

a
b
ili

ty

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

fr
o
m

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
C

.
O

'B
o
yl

e

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
 t
im

e
 t
a
k
e
n

fo
r

a
ll

n
e
w

H
o
u
s
in

g
a
n
d

C
o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
s

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il,

fo
r

w
h
ic

h
 t
h
e

d
a
te

o
f

d
e
c
is

io
n

is

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
ye

a
r

D
e
fi

n
it

io
n

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
 t
im

e
 t
a
k
e
n

fo
r

a
ll

w
ri
tt
e
n

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

o
f

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o

a
H

o
u
s
in

g
/C

o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
a
n
t's

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s

th
a
t
re

q
u
ir
e

a
n
e
w

d
e
c
is

io
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

c
a
s
e
s

w
it
h
in

a
ra

n
d
o
m

s
a
m

p
le

fo
r

w
h
ic

h
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
c
a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

o
f

H
o
u
s
in

g
/C

o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n
e
fi
t
b
e
n
e
fi
t
is

fo
u
n
d
 t
o

b
e

c
o
rr

e
c
t

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l
P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
le

va
n
t
la

n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
ys

in
 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
a
t
w

h
ic

h
u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

le
ve

ls
o
f

fl
y-

p
o
s
ti
n
g

a
re

vi
s
ib

le
.

T
h
e

ye
a
r-

o
n
-y

e
a
r

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
 t
o
ta

l
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

in
c
id

e
n
ts

a
n
d

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta

l
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o

d
e
a
l
w

it
h

fl
y-

ti
p
p
in

g

B
.
P

a
lm

e
r

T
h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
to

n
n
a
g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

fo
r

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g

o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t
b
y

a
n
a
e
ro

b
ic

d
ig

e
s
ti
o
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
re

s
id

e
n
t
in

 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
s
e
rv

e
d

b
y

k
e
rb

s
id

e
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
f

re
c
yc

la
b
le

s

P
la

n
n

in
g

a
n

d
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

J
.
G

ilb
e
rt

*
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
in

s
t 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
o
n

a
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
(y

e
a
r-

e
n
d
)

b
a
s
is

o
n
ly

*
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
in

s
t 
th

e
s
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
is

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
o
n

a
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
(y

e
a
r-

e
n
d
)

b
a
s
is

o
n
ly

D
e
fi

n
it

io
n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

a
ri
s
in

g
s

w
h
ic

h
h
a
ve

b
e
e
n

s
e
n
t
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

fo
r

re
c
yc

lin
g

T
h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
to

n
n
a
g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

a
ri
s
in

g
s

w
h
ic

h
h
a
ve

b
e
e
n

s
e
n
t
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

fo
r

re
c
yc

lin
g

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

fo
r

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g

o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t
b
y

a
n
a
e
ro

b
ic

d
ig

e
s
ti
o
n

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

k
ilo

g
ra

m
s

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
te

d
p
e
r

h
e
a
d

o
f 

th
e

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

o
f 

th
e

d
is

tr
ic

t

Page 16



B
V

P
I
1
0
9
(b

)

B
V

P
I
1
0
9
(c

)

B
V

P
I
2
0
4 K
P

I
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

B
V

P
I
1
7
0
(a

)

B
V

P
I
1
7
0
(c

)

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

'm
in

o
r'

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

8
w

e
e
k
s

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

'o
th

e
r'

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

8
w

e
e
k
s

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
e
a
l
d
e
c
is

io
n
s

a
llo

w
e
d

a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
d
e
c
is

io
n
 t
o

re
fu

s
e

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
,
a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
ta

l

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
e
a
ls

a
g
a
in

s
t
re

fu
s
a
ls

o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

L
e
is

u
re

a
n

d
Y

o
u

n
g

P
e
o

p
le

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

J
.
P

re
s
to

n

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vi
s
it
s
 t
o
/u

s
a
g
e
s

o
f

C
o
u
n
c
il

fu
n
d
e
d

o
r

p
a
rt

fu
n
d
e
d

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
u
p
ils

vi
s
it
in

g
m

u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t
h
e

d
is

tr
ic

t
in

o
rg

a
n
is

e
d

s
c
h
o
o
l
g
ro

u
p
s

D
.
M

a
c
n
a
b

D
.
M

a
c
n
a
b

*
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
in

s
t 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
o
n

a
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
(y

e
a
r-

e
n
d
)

b
a
s
is

o
n
ly

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
D

ir
e
c
to

r
D

e
fi

n
it

io
n

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



K
e

y
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
2

0
0

7
/0

8

Q
u

a
rt

e
rs

1
,

2
a
n

d
3

(1
A

p
ri

l
to

3
1

D
e
c

e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0

7
)

Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



  

Report to: Finance and Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 11 February 2008 
 
 
 
 
Portfolio:  Finance, Performance Management and Corporate Support Services (Councillor 
C. Whitbread) 
 
Subject: Use Of Resources Assessment - Auditor Judgements 2007 
 
Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (Ext 4180) 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  A. Hendry (Ext 4246) 
 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
That the Scrutiny Panel note the Council’s results in respect of the annual Use of 
Resources Assessment for 2007, including the key findings, conclusions and 
improvement opportunities identified by the Audit Commission. 
 
 
Report: 
 
Introduction 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) As members will be aware, local authorities are responsible 
for ensuring that they have proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of public money, and the Audit Commission is tasked with providing 
assurance that this is being achieved. To this end, the Commission examines council’s 
performance and financial management arrangements through the annual Use of Resources 
(UoR) assessment process. UoR forms an important part of the Council’s annual Direction of 
Travel assessment, which is also undertaken by the Audit Commission and reflects the 
Commission’s conclusions about whether the Council is improving, and the extent of any 
such improvement.   
 
2. In addition to the findings of the Use of Resources assessment, the Direction of Travel 
assessment is based on the authority’s achievement of Value for Money, its performance 
against Best Value Performance Indicators during the last year and other inspection 
exercises carried out over the previous twelve months.  The findings reached about the 
authority in the Direction of Travel statement are important as they can trigger intervention or 
further inspection by the Commission, and an unfavourable judgement could also have a 
negative impact on the Council’s public reputation. The UoR assessment supports 
continuous improvement and helps to establish minimum requirements for future external 
audit and inspection. 
 
3. The UoR process involves the Audit Commission assessing the Council’s overall 
performance against five Key Lines of Enquiry (KLoE). These describe what performance at 
each level might look like, or identify the arrangements that should be in place.   
 

• Financial Reporting – How good are the Council’s financial accounting and 
reporting arrangements? 

 
Agenda Item 8

Page 51



  

• Financial Management – How well does the Council plan and manage its 
finances? 

• Financial Standing – How well does the Council safeguard its financial 
standing? 

• Internal Control – How well does the Council’s manage its significant business 
risks? 

• Value For Money - How well does the Council achieve good value for money? 
 
4. The KLoEs are rooted in a number of sources, including statutory and professional 
requirements, and best practice.  The Audit Commission requires the Council to provide 
evidence to support its progress and achievements against the KLoE criteria, focusing on 
whether there have been any changes to the authority's arrangements since the last 
assessment. The Commission uses the following scale to score its judgement against each 
KLoE: 
 

• 4 = well above minimum requirements – performing strongly; 
• 3 = consistently above minimum requirements – performing well; 
• 2 = at only minimum requirements – adequate performance; and 
• 1 = below minimum requirements – inadequate performance. 

 
5. The report and judgements of the Audit Commission in respect of the Council’s UoR 
assessment for 2007 is attached as Appendix 1 to this report, for consideration by the 
Scrutiny Panel, from which it will be noted that the authorities overall score has risen to a 3, 
from the overall score of 2 achieved for both 2005 and 2006.  
 
Statement in Support of Recommended Action 
 
6. The Council is required to participate in the UoR assessment process on an annual 
basis. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
7. To ensure that the Council takes account of feedback in relation to its use of 
resources, in order to inform service development and improvement, and future plans and 
priorities. 
 
 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected 
 

• None. 
 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 

• This report has been subject to consultation with the Finance, Performance 
Management and Corporate Support Services Portfolio Holder, the Chief 
Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Management Board. The Audit 
Commission’s UoR report was also considered by the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee at its meeting on 28 January 2008, and by the 
Audit and Governance Committee on 30 January 2008. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



  

 
Resource Implications:  
 
Budget/Personnel/Land: None. 
Council Plan/Best Value Performance Plan Reference: Section 8 – ‘How We Measure Our 
Achievements’ 
Relevant Statutory Powers: None 
Background Papers: Audit Commission ‘Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007’ 
Report (November 2007) 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: None 
Key Decision Reference: (if required) None 
 

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Use of Resources 

Date

Last saved: 14/11/2007 10:10:00 

Use of Resources 
Auditor Judgements 
2007

Epping Forest District Council 

Audit 2007/08 

Page 55



© Audit Commission 2007 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212  Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

- Audit Commission descriptor to be inserted by Publishing- 

Document Control 

Author Louise Wishart 

Filename EFDC Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 draft 
v3

Status of our reports 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the 
Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the 
audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to 
non-executive directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use 
of the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

 any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

 any third party. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

Page 56



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Contents  3

Epping Forest District Council 

Contents

Introduction 4

Use of resources judgements 6

Theme summaries 8

Financial reporting 8

Financial management 10

Financial standing 12

Internal control 13

Value for money 15

Conclusion 18

Use of resources 2008 18

Page 57



4 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Introduction

Epping Forest District Council 

Introduction
1 The Use of Resources (UoR) assessment evaluates how well councils manage 

and use their resources. The assessment is carried out each year and focuses on 
the importance of strategic financial management, sound governance and 
effective financial reporting arrangements. These should support your Council in 
the achievement of its priorities and improving services, whist delivering value for 
money.

2 This is the third assessment we have undertaken at Epping Forest District 
Council. Our assessment is based on the key lines of enquiry (KLOE) for 2007. 
These include new requirements for councils as part of the Commission's 
approach to phasing in those elements that need more lead in time and to 
supporting improvement by gradually raising the standard of the assessment. The 
period assessed for 2007 has also been aligned with the financial year 2006/07. 
Councils may, however, provide evidence that becomes available after the end of 
the financial year, to demonstrate their arrangements are working effectively and 
are embedded.

3 The overall use of resources assessment is made up of five themes. Judgements 
have been made for each theme using the Audit Commission's scale. This scale 
is used across its inspection and performance assessment frameworks. 

Table 1 Standard scale used for assessments and 
inspections

1 Below minimum requirements – inadequate performance 

2 Only at minimum requirements – adequate performance 

3 Consistently above minimum requirements – performing well 

4 Well above minimum requirements – performing strongly 

4 In forming our assessment, we have used the methodology set out in the Use of 
Resources Guidance for Councils 2007, which can be found on the Commission's 
web site. We have also taken account of our findings and conclusions from 
previous years' assessments and updated these for any changes and 
improvements to the Council's arrangements. 

Page 58



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Introduction  5

Epping Forest District Council 

5 The five theme scores for Epping Forest District Council are outlined overleaf. 
These scores are still subject to confirmation by our national quality control 
process. This seeks to ensure consistency across all suppliers and on a national 
basis. Consequently we are informing you that the scores reported here may 
change as a result of national quality control and should not be taken to be final. 
Following completion of national quality control, the Commission will notify you of 
your Council's overall score for use of resources and supporting theme scores. 
This is scheduled for 10 December 2007.

6 This summary sets out our key findings in relation to each theme and key areas 
for improvement.

Page 59



6 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Use of resources judgements 

Epping Forest District Council 

Use of resources judgements 

Table 2 Summary of scores at theme and KLOE level 

Key lines of enquiry (KLOEs) Score 
2007

Score
2006

Score
2005

Financial reporting- score 3 

1.1 The Council produces annual 
accounts in accordance with relevant 
standards and timetables, supported 
by comprehensive working papers. 

3 2 1 

1.2 The Council promotes external 
accountability.

3 3 2 

Financial management- score 3 

2.1 The Council’s medium-term 
financial strategy, budgets and 
capital programme are soundly 
based and designed to deliver its 
strategic priorities. 

3 3 3 

2.2 The Council manages 
performance against budgets. 

3 2 2 

2.3 The Council manages its asset 
base.

2 3 3 

Financial standing- score 3 

3.1 The Council manages its 
spending within the available 
resources.

3 3 2 

Internal control- score 3 

4.1 The Council manages its 
significant business risks. 

3 2 1 

4.2 The Council has arrangements in 
place to maintain a sound system of 
internal control. 

2 2 2 

4.3 The Council has arrangements in 
place that are designed to promote 
and ensure probity and propriety in 
the conduct of its business. 

3 3 3 

Page 60



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Use of resources judgements  7

Epping Forest District Council 

Key lines of enquiry (KLOEs) Score 
2007

Score
2006

Score
2005

Value for money- score 2 

5.1 The Council currently achieves 
good value for money. 

2 2 2 

5.2 The Council manages and 
improves value for money. 

3 2 1 

Page 61



8 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries 

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme summaries 
7 The key findings and conclusions for each of the five themes are summarised in 

the following tables. 

Financial reporting 

Table 3  

Theme score 3 

Key findings and conclusions 

The Council produced materially correct accounts within the statutory deadline. 
The accounts complied with the relevant accounting standards and were 
supported by comprehensive working papers. An unqualified audit opinion was 
issued on 20 September 2007 in advance of the statutory deadline. The 
accounts submitted for audit contained one non-trivial uncertainty and the 
Council responded to most audit requests promptly. The accounts were 
scrutinised by members prior to approval and this process was facilitated by an 
explanatory paper presented with the accounts. 

The Council promotes public accountability by publishing its accounts, annual 
audit letter and meeting agendas and minutes on the Council website. In 
addition the public are made aware of their rights under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations. The Council has encouraged and received limited feedback on its 
annual report. 

Improvement opportunities

KLOE 1.1 The Council produces 
annual accounts in accordance with 
relevant standards and timetables, 
supported by comprehensive working 
papers.

The Council should ensure that there is 
clear evidence that appropriate and up 
to date advice has been sought on 
complex tax issues. In addition the 
finance and legal departments should 
liaise closely on the sale of assets to 
ensure that the legal paperwork and 
accounting treatment are in line with 
each other. 

Working Papers have improved 
significantly in recent years but the 
Council should now give consideration 
to how they could be improved further. 
This might include more working papers 
being available electronically, a clear 

Page 62



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries  9

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme score 3 

review by the Head of Finance and all 
working papers requested being 
available at the start of the audit, clearly 
cross referenced to the working paper 
request document. 

KLOE 1.2 The Council promotes 
external accountability. 

The Council should actively consider 
new ways to encourage feedback on its 
annual report including focus groups 
and surveys. Based on the feedback 
the Council receives, the content and 
format of the report should be made as 
user friendly and relevant to the public 
as possible. The report should be 
available in a wide variety of formats so 
that those without access to the internet 
can read it. 

Page 63



10 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries 

Epping Forest District Council 

Financial management 

Table 4  

Theme score 3 

Key findings and conclusions 

The Council consistently produces a medium term financial strategy which is 
driven by the priorities in the Council Plan. Comprehensive balanced revenue 
and capital budgets are set annually prior to the start of the financial year and 
the up to date position is regularly reported to senior officers and members 
during the year in a transparent way. Budgets are allocated to Heads of Service 
who ensure that business and financial planning are integrated through their 
service plans. The Council compares its performance against the Prudential 
Indicators annually. 

There are sound arrangements in place to manage performance against 
budgets. Although the Council waste collection contract costs have increased 
significantly this year, the Council has managed the position pro-actively and 
invested a significant amount of effort to achieve value for money. Members 
have been kept informed regularly and the Council has clearly understood the 
financial implications of the decisions it has taken. 

The Council has adequate arrangements in place to manage its asset base. 
There is an up to date Asset Management Plan although the links to the most 
recent Council Plan could be clearer. The Council has an accurate register of 
assets but the system being used is not robust enough for the Council's future 
needs.

Improvement opportunities

KLOE 2.1 The Council’s  
medium-term financial strategy 
(MTFS), budgets and capital 
programme are soundly based and 
designed to deliver its strategic 
priorities.

The Council should set its medium term 
financial strategy within the context of 
the work and financial investment of its 
partner agencies to achieve the targets 
within the Local Area Agreement. In 
addition the Council should explicitly 
report how its financial strategies have 
helped achieve the Council's corporate 
objectives and be monitoring this 
throughout the year. 

KLOE 2.2 The Council manages 
performance against budgets. 

The Council should explicitly report on all 
the financial risks it is taking into account 
when setting its reserve strategy

Page 64



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries  11

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme score 3 

assuming there is no commercial risk in 
doing so. Accrued financial monitoring 
revenue and balance sheet reports 
should be produced regularly during the 
year. Users of financial systems should 
be consulted with regularly and their 
needs taken into account when 
developing the systems and delivering 
training. The Council should set specific 
challenging efficiency targets for services 
that are profiled and monitored 
throughout the year by officers and 
members.

KLOE 2.3 The Council manages its 
asset base. 

The Council needs to ensure that the 
local performance indicators it has 
recently identified to evaluate asset use 
in relation to corporate objectives are 
reported and monitored by members 
regularly and that this element of 
performance management becomes 
embedded. In addition the Council 
should make the links between the 
updated Asset Management Plan and 
the most recent Council Plan clearer. 
The current asset register should be 
replaced by a more robust and flexible 
system to ensure it meets the Council's 
future needs. 

Page 65



12 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries 

Epping Forest District Council 

Financial standing 

Table 5  

Theme score 3 

Key findings and conclusions 

The Council has a history of sound financial standing. This year presented a 
challenge for the Council with regard to the increased costs of waste collection 
but its sound financial position meant that the situation could be managed 
without a significant adverse impact on other services. 

Improvement opportunities

KLOE 3.1 The Council manages its 
spending within the available 
resources.

In order to improve the Use of 
Resources assessment in this area 
further the Council would need to find 
innovative ways of monitoring the 
financial performance of the Council 
through key financial indicators and by 
considering more pro actively and 
explicitly the alternative uses of reserves. 

Page 66



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries  13

Epping Forest District Council 

Internal control 

Table 6  

Theme score 3 

Key findings and conclusions 

The Council has made significant progress in this area since the first 
assessment in 2005/06. Most notably risk management arrangements have 
been established and are now considered to be sufficiently embedded. The 
Council will need to continue to invest in this process to ensure that the benefits 
to the Council from these arrangements continue.

Adequate arrangements are in place to maintain a sound system of internal 
control. An Audit Committee has now been established in line with CIPFA 
recommendations and has met twice.

The Council has continued to maintain good arrangements for ensuring probity 
and propriety in the Council and deals with adverse incidences promptly and 
appropriately.

Improvement opportunities

KLOE 4.1 The Council manages its 
significant business risks. 

The Council should be able to 
demonstrate how risk management 
arrangements are clearly feeding 
through into corporate business 
processes such as strategic and 
financial planning, policy making and 
performance management. 

A member champion for risk 
management should be identified and 
training throughout the Council at 
member and officer level should 
continue to be delivered. 

All staff should continue to be fully 
aware of their role in risk management 
and understand their responsibilities. 

KLOE 4.2 The Council has 
arrangements in place to maintain a 
sound system of internal control. 

The Council should continue to support 
the Audit Committee and ensure that it 
is an effective element of the Council's 
control arrangements. Formal action 
plans for weaknesses identified in the 
Statement of Internal Control should be 
approved and all key financial systems 
should have up to date procedures in 

Page 67



14 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries 

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme score 3 

place.

KLOE 4.3 The Council has 
arrangements in place that are 
designed to promote and ensure 
probity and propriety in the conduct of 
its business. 

In order to achieve further 
improvements in this area the Council 
would need to look at innovative ways 
to secure a high level of probity and 
propriety and demonstrate that this has 
been achieved with all members and 
staff.

The Council would need to consider 
fraud as part of its risk management 
processes on an ongoing basis and 
continue to participate fully in the 
National Fraud Initiative. 

Page 68



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries  15

Epping Forest District Council 

Value for money 

Table 7  

Theme score 2 

Key findings and conclusions 

The Council’s costs are higher than other comparable councils, although they 
are reducing.  Performance improvement was above average over the last three 
years, although it was below average in the last year and the number of 
indicators in the top quartile is average for all District Councils. Value for money 
has been improved in three major areas of expenditure; waste management, 
leisure services and development control. Most areas of high spending are in 
line with the Council's priorities and investment is resulting in improving 
services.
The Council is continuing to improve its understanding of costs and gives priority 
to driving costs down and improving quality as demonstrated with the waste 
collection service. It is prepared to invest in poorly performing services in order 
to achieve quality improvements. Areas of unintended high spending have been 
identified and the Council is addressing these. 
Investment has been made in Planning, which is showing improvement in 
performance and the Benefits service is a clear example of an embedded 
approach which is improving VFM. The externalisation of leisure management 
which took place in January 2006 has led to improved usage, satisfaction, 
increased investment and reduced costs.
The Council has a good Capital Strategy.  It reflects the Council's priorities and 
is designed to ensure that a strategic approach is taken and that projects are 
properly planned, managed and reviewed to ensure that VFM is achieved.  Most 
projects are completed within budget; although there has been some slippage.
The Council has developed a powerful analysis of costs and performance which 
is being used to increase understanding of costs and the relationship between 
costs and performance.  It demonstrates a commitment to improving 
understanding throughout the organisation. There are examples of the Council 
taking its improved understanding of costs into account when making decisions. 
Achieving and improving value for money is being embedded in the council’s 
culture through the VFM Strategy and VFM Analysis Tool, business planning 
processes, HR and management development programmes.  The performance 
appraisal system is being modified to make it more performance focussed and 
embed VFM within all staff objectives. 
The Council has analysed and is assessing the value for money it is achieving 
as a result of its investment and other changes made in priority areas.  Members 
are leading the scrutiny of these issues. 
The Council sets and achieves ambitious targets to improve efficiency and value 
for money corporately and in services. 
The Council has produced and delivered on an efficiency plan which has 

Page 69



16 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries 

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme score 2 

achieved and exceeded the cumulative Efficiency Review target of 7.5 per cent 
gains over a three-year period. 
The Council has improved its procurement practice and is demonstrating 
benefits from the implementation of its Procurement Strategy, with effective use 
being made of the Essex Procurement Hub to achieve benefits, including joint 
procurement with other councils. Procurement decisions are based primarily on 
cost and quality. Significant and identifiable savings have been achieved 
through procurement and internal reviews without unintended loss of quality. 
Examples include waste management and ICT. 
Investment is targeted at improving value for money in the longer term. There 
are examples of past investment resulting in demonstrable improvements in 
value for money. 
Leisure services have been successful in securing external funding, but the 
Council as a whole less so.   

Improvement opportunities

KLOE 5.1 The Council currently 
achieves good value for money. 

The Council should continue to address 
areas where costs compared with other 
similar Councils are higher than 
average, whilst also seeking 
improvements in performance and user 
satisfaction.
The Council should improve 
arrangements so that most capital 
projects are completed on time as well 
as within budget. 

KLOE 5.2 The Council manages and 
improves value for money. 

Although there are examples of 
differential investment to improve equity 
of access and service, this should be 
become a more fundamental part of the 
Council’s strategy and investment 
approach in services. 
The Council should pursue more 
opportunities for joint procurement with 
other councils, working with the LSP 
and other partners to improve value for 
money. The influences on procurement 
decisions should be expanded to 
include some consideration of wider 
issues, such as economic and 
environmental impact more routinely. 

The Council recognises that it needs to 
be more active in seeking external 
funding and an External Funding 
Strategy, which includes a detailed tool 

Page 70



Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Theme summaries  17

Epping Forest District Council 

Theme score 2 

kit, is now in final draft form.   

Page 71



18 Use of Resources Auditor Judgements 2007 Conclusion 

Epping Forest District Council 

Conclusion
8 The Council's performance demonstrates that its investment to improve the 

arrangements for the Use of Resources has brought real improvement with the 
overall score increasing from 'adequate' (level 2) to 'good' (level 3). The Council 
now needs to ensure that maintaining and improving arrangements is seen as the 
responsibility of everyone within the Council so that as the standard required to 
meet the key lines of enquiry increases, the Council is well placed to them. 

Use of resources 2008 

9 The Commission has published its key lines of enquiry for 2008 on its website. 
There is an annotated version of the key lines of enquiry available which show all 
the changes from 2007. This should assist you in pin pointing the changes. PKF, 
as your new auditor from 2007/08, will be reporting their scores and findings from 
the 2008 assessment to you at a similar time next year.

10 The Commission consulted on the changes to the key lines of enquiry for 2008 
during April to June 2007. The Commission's response to the consultation can be 
found on its website. The key lines of enquiry for 2008 reflect some of the 
changing priorities for councils as they respond to the major challenges facing 
them and the higher expectations of them. Making further improvements in 
efficiency will be critical for councils in responding to: the changing demographic 
profile of communities, increasing public expectations of public services and 
expected constraints on funding from Government.

11 The key lines of enquiry give more emphasis, mainly at level 4, to areas such as: 
sustainability, working in partnership and using IT to secure service and value for 
money improvements; strategic asset management and joint procurement. These 
areas signal the changes which will be given more emphasis in the use of 
resources assessment under Comprehensive Area Assessment, the new 
performance framework for local services. 

Page 72



Finance and Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 11 February 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
Portfolio:  Finance, Performance Management and Corporate Support Services (Councillor 
C. Whitbread) 
 
Subject: Best Value Performance Plan 2008/09 – Summary Version  
 
Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (Ext 4180) 
 
Committee Secretary:  A. Hendry (Ext 4246) 
 
 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 

 
(1) That the content of the Council’s summary Best Value Performance Plan for 

2008/09 be agreed; and  
 

(2) That the Scrutiny Panel agree proposed arrangements for the consideration of 
the full version of the Best Value Performance Plan for 2008/09. 
 

Report: 
 
Background 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) The Local Government Act 1999 and the Best Value regime 
require the Council to produce an annual performance plan. The Plan is required to: 
 

(a) summarise the Council’s successes in meeting its key priorities, objectives and 
targets for the current year; 

(b) show where these priorities, objectives and targets were not met; 
(c) inform customers of the Council’s key priorities, objectives and targets for the 

forthcoming year; and 
(d) compare the Council’s performance for with that for previous years. 

 
2. The Council’s Best Value Performance Plan (BVPP) is traditionally produced in two 
versions each year. A detailed version of the Plan is prepared each June for the Audit 
Commission and other bodies involved in the evaluation of the Council’s performance, which 
is also made available to those who desire a comprehensive explanation of the authority’s 
plans and activities. In addition and in accordance with a best practice recommendation of 
the Audit Commission, a summary of the BVPP is also distributed to all households in the 
district within the explanatory leaflet issued with the annual Council Tax demands each 
March.  
 
3. The statutory requirement to produce an annual BVPP has been revoked as part of 
the new performance framework for local government, set out in the 2007 ‘Strong and 
Prosperous Communities’ White Paper. This ill therefore be the last performance plan to be 
produced in the current form, although it will nevertheless be important for the Council to 
continue to publish information in regard to its priorities and performance, and this may in 
future be achieved through an expansion of the Annual Report. 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 73



 
Best Value Performance Plan – Summary Version 
 
4. The draft summary BVPP for 2008/09 is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. In 
order to minimise costs and contain the summary within the Council Tax leaflet, the detail of 
the draft summary relates primarily to the achievement of the Council’s main objectives for 
the current year and its targets for 2008/09. Fuller detail in relation to the Council’s priorities, 
objectives, performance and improvement will be set out in the full version of the BVPP to be 
published in June 2008. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to consider and agree the draft 
summary BVPP.  
 
Best Value Performance Plan – Full Version 
 
5. The full BVPP is required to be published by 30 June each year, and must be 
considered by the Cabinet and formally adopted by the Council. A draft version of the full 
BVPP has previously been considered by the Scrutiny Panel each April, although the 
consideration of the draft plan at this stage in the year has always meant that the reporting of 
outturn performance information and the achievement of other improvement actions for the 
year is unavoidably incomplete.  
 
6. In order to address this issue and allow time for end of year performance details to be 
incorporated before members consider the BVPP and, as this is the last meeting of the 
Scrutiny Panel during the current year, it is proposed that for 2008/09 a complete version of 
the draft Plan be individually circulated for comment to all members of the Scrutiny Panel 
early in the new municipal year. If this approach is agreed, any issues raised by members on 
the proposed format, structure and content of the BVPP would be reported to the Cabinet 
when it considers the draft BVPP at its meeting in June 2008.  
 
7. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to agree these arrangements for the consideration of 
the full version of the Best Value Performance Plan for 2008/09, which reflect those adopted 
for 2007/08. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
8. To enable the publication of summary performance information within the Council Tax 
demands to be issued in March 2008 in accordance with best practice identified by the Audit 
Commission, and to provide members with complete outturn performance and improvement 
information to enable full consideration of the BVPP. 
 
Options considered and rejected: 
 
9. None. In previous years the summary BVPP had been hand-delivered, but for the last 
five years production costs have been reduced at the request of members to enable it to be 
contained within the Council Tax leaflet. The full BVPP is required to be published by 30 June 
each year, and must be formally adopted by the Council. 
 
Consultation undertaken: 
 
10. All Directors contribute to the content of the summary and full versions of the BVPP. 
The draft summary BVPP has been agreed by the Finance and Performance Management 
Portfolio Holder and Management Board. The full BVPP will be considered by the Cabinet in 
June 2007.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



Resource implications:  
 
Budget Provision: The publication of the summary BVPP will be met from within existing 
Performance Management Unit budgets 
 
Personnel: The publication of the summary BVPP will be met from within existing 
Performance Management Unit staff resources 
 
Land: Nil 
 
Council Plan/BVPP Reference: Council Plan Section 8 – ‘How We Measure Our 
Achievements’. 
 
Relevant Statutory Powers: Local Government Act 1999 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: Nil 
 
Key Decision Reference (if required): None 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

B
es

t V
al

ue
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

la
n 

 O
ur

 P
rio

rit
ie

s 
an

d 
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 

 E
ac

h 
ye

ar
 w

e 
pu

bl
is

h 
a 

Be
st

 V
al

ue
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

la
n 

to
 t

el
l y

ou
 

w
ha

t o
ur

 p
rio

rit
ie

s 
ar

e 
an

d 
ho

w
 w

e 
ar

e 
pe

rfo
rm

in
g.

 A
 s

um
m

ar
y 

of
 

ou
r 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
an

d 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 i
s 

se
t 

ou
t 

in
 t

hi
s 

le
af

le
t. 

W
e 

w
ill 

pr
od

uc
e 

ou
r 

ne
xt

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 p
la

n 
in

 J
un

e 
20

08
 a

nd
 y

ou
 w

ill 
be

 
ab

le
 to

 o
bt

ai
n 

a 
co

py
 b

y:
 

 W
rit

in
g 

to
 u

s 
at

: E
pp

in
g 

Fo
re

st
 D

is
tri

ct
 C

ou
nc

il,
 C

iv
ic

 O
ffi

ce
s,

 H
ig

h 
S

tre
et

, 
E

pp
in

g,
 E

ss
ex

, 
C

M
16

 4
B

Z,
 t

el
ep

ho
ni

ng
 u

s 
on

: 
 0

19
92

 
56

41
80

, 
fa

xi
ng

 
us

 
on

: 
01

99
2 

57
80

18
, 

or
 

E
-m

ai
lin

g 
us

 
at

: 
be

st
va

lu
e@

ep
pi

ng
fo

re
st

dc
.g

ov
.u

k 
 O

ur
 T

he
m

at
ic

 A
pp

ro
ac

h 
 In

 t
hi

s 
su

m
m

ar
y 

of
 t

he
 B

es
t 

V
al

ue
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

la
n 

w
e 

ha
ve

 
lin

ke
d 

th
e 

w
ay

 i
n 

w
hi

ch
 w

e 
pr

ov
id

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

o 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
em

es
 

of
 

th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

S
tra

te
gy

 
fo

r 
20

04
 

to
 

20
21

. 
Th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
tra

te
gy

 s
et

s 
ou

t 
th

e 
m

aj
or

 c
ha

lle
ng

es
 f

ac
in

g 
th

e 
E

pp
in

g 
Fo

re
st

 D
is

tri
ct

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
lo

ng
-te

rm
 a

nd
 h

ow
 t

he
se

 w
ill

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
by

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 a

nd
 v

ol
un

ta
ry

 a
ge

nc
ie

s:
  

 • 
G

re
en

 a
nd

 U
ni

qu
e 

• 
A

 S
af

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 
• 

H
om

es
 a

nd
 N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

s 
• 

Fi
t f

or
 L

ife
 

• 
E

co
no

m
ic

 P
ro

sp
er

ity
 

• 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

O
ur

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
 Th

is
 le

af
le

t s
ho

w
s 

th
e 

is
su

es
 w

e 
fa

ce
 a

nd
 o

ur
 a

im
s 

fo
r 2

00
8/

09
, 

an
d 

w
ha

t w
e 

ha
ve

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
so

 fa
r d

ur
in

g 
20

07
/0

8 
w

ith
in

 e
ac

h 
th

em
e.

  W
e 

ho
pe

 th
at

 y
ou

 fi
nd

 th
is

 u
se

fu
l. 

       

G
re

en
 a

nd
 U

ni
qu

e 
  

 O
ne

 o
f 

th
e 

ke
y 

ob
je

ct
iv

es
 o

f 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
tra

te
gy

 is
 t

ha
t 

th
e 

di
st

ric
t w

ill
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

a 
un

iq
ue

, g
re

en
 a

nd
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
in

 w
hi

ch
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 p

ro
sp

er
. 

Th
is

 v
is

io
n 

is
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 i
n 

ou
r 

m
ed

iu
m

-te
rm

 
pr

io
rit

ie
s,

 
w

hi
ch

 
se

ek
 

to
 

m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

e 
sp

ec
ia

l 
ch

ar
ac

te
r 

an
d 

ad
va

nt
ag

e 
of

 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t 
an

d 
ad

dr
es

s 
lo

ca
l 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
is

su
es

. 
O

ur
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

an
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rin

g 
an

d 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 

P
or

tfo
lio

s,
 

an
d 

th
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 
fu

nc
tio

ns
 o

f 
th

e 
P

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

E
co

no
m

ic
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
or

tfo
lio

, 
ar

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
is

 th
em

e.
  

 O
ur

 A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 A

im
s 

 W
e 

ai
m

 to
 p

ro
te

ct
 th

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t o
f t

he
 d

is
tri

ct
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 
st

at
ut

or
y 

po
w

er
s,

 
ed

uc
at

io
n 

an
d 

th
e 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 

go
od

 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l p

ra
ct

ic
e 

an
d 

to
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

th
e 

hi
gh

w
ay

s 
in

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

in
 t

he
 d

is
tri

ct
 t

hr
ou

gh
 f

or
m

al
 l

ia
is

on
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 w
ith

 E
ss

ex
 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il.

  
 W

e 
ha

ve
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
 n

ew
 w

as
te

 m
an

ag
em

en
t c

on
tra

ct
, w

hi
ch

 w
ill 

im
pr

ov
e 

fu
rth

er
 o

ur
 r

ec
yc

lin
g 

an
d 

di
ve

rs
io

n 
fro

m
 l

an
df

ill
 t

o 
m

ee
t 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
an

d 
w

is
he

s 
of

 r
es

id
en

ts
. 

W
e 

ha
ve

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 w

or
k 

on
 

th
e 

la
nd

fil
l r

em
ed

ia
tio

n 
si

te
 a

t B
ob

bi
ng

w
or

th
 T

ip
.  

 W
e 

ha
ve

 r
ed

uc
ed

 t
he

 r
is

ks
 o

f 
lo

ca
lis

ed
 f

lo
od

in
g 

by
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t 

as
se

t 
co

nd
iti

on
 

su
rv

ey
s 

of
 

pi
pe

d 
w

at
er

co
ur

se
 a

nd
 b

y 
flo

od
 a

lle
vi

at
io

n 
sc

he
m

es
 t

ha
t 

m
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

d 
en

fo
rc

e 
w

at
er

co
ur

se
 

co
nt

ro
l. 

W
e 

ai
m

 
to

 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
tre

es
ca

pe
 o

f 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t 
an

d 
th

e 
ne

w
 D

is
tri

ct
 T

re
e 

S
tra

te
gy

  
w

ill
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

in
 S

pr
in

g 
20

08
. T

hi
s 

do
cu

m
en

t t
el

ls
 y

ou
 a

bo
ut

 o
ur

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
an

d 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

 to
 m

an
ag

e 
an

d 
re

ta
in

 
ou

r n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 tr

ee
s.

 
 W

e 
ha

ve
 

re
vi

ew
ed

 
ou

r 
pa

rk
in

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
no

w
 p

ro
vi

de
 fr

ee
 p

ar
ki

ng
 

on
 S

at
ur

da
ys

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
ye

ar
. 

Page 77



 

 

  

A
 S

af
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

 A
 s

ec
on

d 
ke

y 
ob

je
ct

iv
e 

of
 t

he
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
tra

te
gy

 i
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

E
pp

in
g 

Fo
re

st
 

D
is

tri
ct

 
to

 
be

 
an

 
ar

ea
 

w
he

re
 

pe
op

le
 

w
ill 

be
 

re
as

su
re

d 
th

at
 c

rim
in

al
 a

nd
 d

is
or

de
rly

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 is

 u
nu

su
al

 a
nd

, 
w

he
re

 it
 d

oe
s 

oc
cu

r, 
th

at
 th

e 
po

lic
e,

 o
th

er
 a

ge
nc

ie
s 

an
d 

m
em

be
rs

 
of

 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 
w

ill
 

do
 

th
ei

r 
ut

m
os

t 
to

 
en

su
re

 
th

at
 

th
os

e 
re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
ar

e 
br

ou
gh

t 
to

 ju
st

ic
e.

 T
hi

s 
vi

si
on

 is
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 in
 o

ur
 

m
ed

iu
m

-te
rm

 p
rio

rit
ie

s,
 w

hi
ch

 s
ee

k 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t 
as

 a
 

sa
fe

, 
he

al
th

y 
an

d 
at

tra
ct

iv
e 

pl
ac

e.
 T

he
 C

om
m

un
ity

 W
el

lb
ei

ng
 

P
or

tfo
lio

 is
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
is

 th
em

e.
  

 O
ur

 A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 A

im
s 

 W
e 

ha
ve

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 S
er

vi
ce

 L
ev

el
 A

gr
ee

m
en

ts
 fo

r 
co

m
m

un
ity

 g
ro

up
s 

in
 r

ec
ei

pt
 o

f 
lo

ng
-te

rm
 f

un
di

ng
 t

o 
en

su
re

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 a

re
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

gu
id

el
in

es
 s

et
 o

ut
 in

 c
on

tra
ct

s.
 

 Pr
ot

ec
tin

g 
Yo

un
g 

Pe
op

le
 

 Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

pa
rti

ci
pa

te
d 

in
 th

e 
E

ss
ex

 
P

ol
ic

e‘
 ‘2

 S
m

ar
t 4

 D
ru

gs
’ s

ch
em

e 
in

 
sc

ho
ol

s,
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
ab

ou
t 

dr
ug

s,
 a

lc
oh

ol
 a

nd
 s

ta
yi

ng
 s

af
e;

 a
nd

 
w

e 
ha

ve
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
on

 
ga

m
bl

in
g 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

e 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

of
 

th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e.

  
  Pr

ot
ec

tin
g 

Fa
m

ili
es

 a
nd

 th
e 

Vu
ln

er
ab

le
 

 W
e 

ha
ve

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
3 

S
an

ct
ua

ry
 S

ch
em

es
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t. 

S
an

ct
ua

ry
 

S
ch

em
es

 h
el

p 
fa

m
ili

es
 to

 s
ta

y 
in

 th
ei

r h
om

es
 if

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
be

co
m

e 
vi

ct
im

s 
of

 d
om

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e 
or

 h
at

e 
cr

im
e.

 S
ch

em
es

 li
ke

 th
is

 a
re

 
ru

nn
in

g 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

ly
 in

 a
 n

um
be

r o
f a

re
as

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

co
un

try
. O

ur
 

S
an

ct
ua

ry
 S

ch
em

e 
is

 f
or

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 n
or

m
al

ly
 l

iv
e 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 

E
pp

in
g 

Fo
re

st
 D

is
tri

ct
, 

an
d 

w
as

 s
et

 u
p 

w
ith

 t
he

 C
rim

e 
an

d 
D

is
or

de
r R

ed
uc

tio
n 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

.  
  Th

e 
se

cu
rit

y 
of

 
th

e 
ho

m
e 

is
 

im
pr

ov
ed

 
th

ro
ug

h 
a 

va
rie

ty
 

of
 

m
ea

su
re

s.
 A

 S
an

ct
ua

ry
 R

oo
m

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

af
e 

ro
om

 
in

 t
he

 h
om

e 
an

d 
a 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 s

ec
ur

ity
 m

ea
su

re
s 

ar
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

, 

su
ch

 a
s 

in
te

rn
al

 f
ire

 d
oo

rs
, 

ad
di

tio
na

l l
oc

ks
 in

 t
o 

th
e 

pr
em

is
es

 
an

d 
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
eq

ui
pm

en
t. 

 
 Pr

ot
ec

tin
g 

Th
e 

El
de

rly
 

 A
 s

ub
st

an
tia

l n
um

be
r 

of
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

re
si

de
 in

 th
e 

Ep
pi

ng
 F

or
es

t 
D

is
tri

ct
. 

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt,

 
th

e 
ar

ea
 s

uf
fe

rs
 

re
gu

la
r 

at
te

nt
io

n 
fro

m
 

bu
rg

la
rs

 
ac

tin
g 

as
 

bo
gu

s 
ca

lle
rs

. 
Th

es
e 

cr
im

in
al

s 
ar

e 
ve

ry
 

pl
au

si
bl

e 
an

d 
pe

rs
ua

si
ve

 a
nd

 o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ill
 o

fte
n 

le
t t

he
m

 in
to

 
th

ei
r 

ho
m

es
. 

W
e 

ha
ve

 i
m

pl
em

en
te

d 
a 

‘N
om

in
at

ed
 N

ei
gh

bo
ur

’ 
sc

he
m

e,
 w

he
re

 w
e 

is
su

es
 c

ar
ds

 t
o 

el
de

rly
 r

es
id

en
ts

 f
or

 t
he

m
 t

o 
di

sp
la

y 
pr

om
in

en
tly

, 
w

hi
ch

 a
sk

s 
al

l 
do

or
st

ep
 c

al
le

rs
 t

o 
ca

ll 
at

 a
 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rs
’ h

ou
se

 fi
rs

t t
o 

pr
ov

e 
id

en
tit

y 
be

fo
re

 th
ey

 w
ill

 o
pe

n 
th

e 
fro

nt
 

do
or

. 
O

ur
 

ob
je

ct
iv

e 
is

 
to

 
re

du
ce

 
in

ci
de

nc
es

 
of

 
ar

tif
ic

e 
bu

rg
la

ry
 i

n 
re

sp
ec

t 
of

 t
he

 e
ld

er
ly

 o
r 

m
or

e 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 r
es

id
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

D
is

tri
ct

, a
nd

 fr
om

 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

00
7 

w
e 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
im

pl
em

en
tin

g 
no

m
in

at
ed

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
 c

ar
ds

. 
 W

e 
ha

ve
 a

ls
o 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
a 

st
ra

te
gy

 w
ith

 
E

ss
ex

 P
ol

ic
e 

on
 th

e 
de

pl
oy

m
en

t o
f P

ol
ic

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
up

po
rt 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 (P
C

SO
s)

 a
nd

 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 jo
in

tly
 fu

nd
 6

 P
C

S
O

s.
 

         

Page 78



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

H
om

es
 a

nd
 N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

s 
 

 A
no

th
er

 o
f 

th
e 

ke
y 

ob
je

ct
iv

es
 o

f 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
tra

te
gy

 is
 t

ha
t 

th
e 

di
st

ric
t h

as
 s

af
e,

 d
ec

en
t a

nd
 a

ttr
ac

tiv
e 

ho
us

in
g 

th
at

 m
ee

ts
 th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 t

ho
se

 w
ho

 w
an

t 
to

 l
iv

e 
in

 t
he

 d
is

tri
ct

. 
Th

is
 v

is
io

n 
is

 
re

fle
ct

ed
 in

 o
ur

 m
ed

iu
m

-te
rm

 p
rio

rit
ie

s,
 w

hi
ch

 s
ee

k 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 k
ey

 
ho

us
in

g 
ne

ed
. T

he
 H

ou
si

ng
 P

or
tfo

lio
 is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

is
 th

em
e.

  
 O

ur
 A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 A
im

s 
 Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
is

 a
 re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
la

nd
lo

rd
 fo

r a
ro

un
d 

6,
50

0 
te

na
nt

s 
an

d 
ar

ou
nd

 9
00

 le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

, o
ffe

rin
g 

re
as

on
ab

le
 re

nt
s,

 a
nd

 
m

an
ag

in
g 

its
 p

ro
pe

rti
es

 e
ffe

ct
iv

el
y 

an
d 

ef
fic

ie
nt

ly
. 

 Pr
ov

id
in

g 
A

ffo
rd

ab
le

 H
om

es
 

 W
e 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 d
ev

el
op

er
s 

an
d 

ho
us

in
g 

as
so

ci
at

io
ns

 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
ll 

ty
pe

s 
of

 n
ew

 h
om

es
 i

n 
th

e 
D

is
tri

ct
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 f
or

 r
en

t 
an

d 
sh

ar
ed

 o
w

ne
rs

hi
p.

  
W

e 
ha

ve
 

al
so

 in
iti

at
ed

 a
 ‘F

in
de

rs
 F

ee
’ s

ch
em

e 
to

 b
rin

g 
at

 le
as

t f
iv

e 
pr

iv
at

e 
se

ct
or

 e
m

pt
y 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
ba

ck
 i

nt
o 

us
e 

pe
r 

an
nu

m
 a

nd
 m

ak
e 

th
em

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 o
ur

 h
ou

si
ng

 a
pp

lic
an

ts
.  

 W
e 

ai
m

 t
o 

in
tro

du
ce

 t
w

o 
lo

w
 c

os
t 

ho
m

e 
ow

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 

(H
om

e 
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p 
G

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

M
ar

ke
t S

ha
re

d 
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p)
) 

in
 2

00
8/

09
, 

to
 a

ss
is

t 
fir

st
 t

im
e 

bu
ye

rs
 e

nt
er

 h
om

e 
ow

ne
rs

hi
p.

  
W

e 
w

ill
 a

ls
o 

be
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t 

a 
H

ou
si

ng
 M

ar
ke

t 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
to

 
in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il’s
 u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f t

he
 lo

ca
l h

ou
si

ng
 m

ar
ke

t 
to

 in
fo

rm
 fu

tu
re

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 
an

d 
st

ra
te

gi
es

. 

Sa
fe

 a
nd

 W
el

l M
an

ag
ed

 H
ou

si
ng

 S
to

ck
 

 W
e 

w
er

e 
re

-a
cc

re
di

te
d 

w
ith

 
th

e 
C

ha
rte

r 
M

ar
k 

A
w

ar
d 

fo
r 

C
us

to
m

er
 

E
xc

el
le

nc
e,

 
fo

r 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 
of

 
H

ou
si

ng
 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 
fo

r 
a 

fu
rth

er
 

th
re

e 
ye

ar
s 

an
d 

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

a 
m

aj
or

 £
4m

 i
m

pr
ov

em
en

t 
sc

he
m

e 
at

 S
pr

in
gf

ie
ld

s,
 W

al
th

am
 A

bb
ey

.  
 

 W
e 

in
tro

du
ce

d 
ou

r H
om

eO
pt

io
n 

S
ch

em
e,

 w
hi

ch
 g

iv
es

 h
ou

si
ng

 
ap

pl
ic

an
ts

 g
re

at
er

 c
ho

ic
e 

an
d 

tra
ns

pa
re

nc
y 

in
 th

e 
le

tti
ng

 o
f 

C
ou

nc
il 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
an

d 
w

e 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
a 

lic
en

si
ng

 re
gi

m
e 

fo
r 

ho
us

es
 in

 m
ul

tip
le

 o
cc

up
at

io
n 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 th

ey
 p

ro
vi

de
 s

af
e 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n.

  
 W

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
m

en
ci

ng
 a

n 
up

gr
ad

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
co

m
m

un
al

 
TV

 a
er

ia
ls

 o
n 

es
ta

te
s,

 to
 e

na
bl

e 
re

ce
ip

t o
f d

ig
ita

l T
V

 p
rio

r 
to

 th
e 

ch
an

ge
ov

er
 fr

om
 a

na
lo

gu
e 

TV
.  

 D
ea

lin
g 

w
ith

 A
nt

i-S
oc

ia
l B

eh
av

io
ur

 
 W

e 
m

et
 

th
e 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t’s

 
R

es
pe

ct
 

S
ta

nd
ar

d 
fo

r 
H

ou
si

ng
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t, 

w
hi

ch
 g

iv
es

 a
 p

ub
lic

 c
om

m
itm

en
t t

o 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il’
s 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 fo
r d

ea
lin

g 
w

ith
 a

nt
i-s

oc
ia

l b
eh

av
io

ur
.  

 W
or

k 
on

 a
nt

i-s
oc

ia
l 

be
ha

vi
ou

r 
is

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 t

hr
ou

gh
 t

w
o 

Ar
ea

 
H

ou
si

ng
 O

ffi
ce

s 
(n

or
th

 a
nd

 s
ou

th
) 

an
d 

th
e 

Li
m

es
 F

ar
m

 E
st

at
e 

O
ffi

ce
, C

hi
gw

el
l, 

w
hi

ch
 is

 a
 s

ub
 o

ffi
ce

 o
f t

he
 A

re
a 

H
ou

si
ng

 O
ffi

ce
 

(S
ou

th
). 

Page 79



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Fi
t f

or
 L

ife
  

 Th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

S
tra

te
gy

 
ai

m
s 

to
 

en
su

re
 

th
at

 
E

pp
in

g 
Fo

re
st

 
D

is
tri

ct
 is

 a
n 

ar
ea

 w
he

re
 p

eo
pl

e 
of

 a
ll 

ag
es

 a
nd

 a
bi

lit
ie

s 
ca

n 
le

ad
 a

 
he

al
th

y 
lif

es
ty

le
 b

y 
ha

vi
ng

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 e

ffe
ct

iv
e 

hi
gh

 q
ua

lit
y 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

cu
ltu

ra
l s

er
vi

ce
s.

 T
hi

s 
vi

si
on

 is
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 in
 o

ur
 m

ed
iu

m
-te

rm
 

pr
io

rit
ie

s,
 w

hi
ch

 s
ee

k 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

 l
ei

su
re

 n
ee

d.
 T

he
 L

ei
su

re
 a

nd
 

Y
ou

ng
 P

eo
pl

e 
P

or
tfo

lio
 is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

is
 th

em
e.

 
 O

ur
 A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 A
im

s 
 Th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ye
ar

 w
e 

im
pr

ov
ed

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r l
oc

al
 p

eo
pl

e 
of

 
al

l 
ag

es
 a

nd
 a

bi
lit

ie
s 

to
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

e 
in

 s
po

rts
, 

ar
ts

, 
he

rit
ag

e 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 
ac

tiv
iti

es
, 

th
ro

ug
h 

se
cu

rin
g 

ov
er

 
£3

10
k 

ex
te

rn
al

 
fu

nd
in

g 
fro

m
 b

od
ie

s 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

A
rts

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

B
ig

 L
ot

te
ry

 
Fu

nd
.  

 C
om

m
un

ity
 &

 C
ul

tu
re

 
 W

e 
ha

ve
 in

ve
st

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
-d

is
pl

ay
 o

f 
ou

r 
M

us
eu

m
 i

n 
W

al
th

am
 A

bb
ey

, 
to

 
im

pr
ov

e 
vi

si
to

r 
ac

ce
ss

 
fo

r 
pe

op
le

 
w

ith
 

di
sa

bi
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

en
ha

nc
ed

 
in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

of
 

ou
r 

hi
st

or
ic

 
co

lle
ct

io
ns

. 
£3

0k
 

ex
te

rn
al

 
fu

nd
in

g 
w

as
 a

ls
o 

se
cu

re
d 

to
w

ar
ds

 t
w

o 
or

al
 

hi
st

or
y 

pr
oj

ec
ts

; 
‘T

al
es

 
of

 
th

e 
Bo

ar
de

rs
’, 

w
hi

ch
 f

oc
us

se
d 

on
 li

fe
 a

s 
a 

‘liv
e–

in
’ 

pu
pi

l 
of

 
G

re
at

 
S

to
ny

 
S

ch
oo

l, 
O

ng
ar

, 
an

d 
an

 e
xh

ib
iti

on
 t

o 
ce

le
br

at
e 

th
e 

‘A
bo

lit
io

n 
of

 S
la

ve
ry

’, 
w

hi
ch

 i
nc

lu
de

d 
a 

dr
am

a 
pr

od
uc

tio
n 

an
d 

fil
m

, w
hi

ch
 w

en
t o

n 
to

 to
ur

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

E
as

te
rn

 R
eg

io
n.

 
 O

ur
 

Ar
ts

 
Se

ct
io

n 
se

cu
re

d 
£2

5k
 

fro
m

 
th

e 
Ar

ts
 

C
ou

nc
il,

 
fo

r 
‘h

om
el

ife
’, 

a 
sp

ec
ia

l 
pr

oj
ec

t, 
w

hi
ch

 i
nv

ol
ve

d 
ar

tis
ts

 w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
, a

nd
 th

e 
el

de
rly

 w
ith

in
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e 
ho

m
es

 in
 th

e 
di

st
ric

t. 
Th

e 
w

or
k 

en
co

ur
ag

ed
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

to
 lo

ok
 a

t 
th

ei
r 

lo
ca

l 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t 
an

d 
en

ab
le

d 
th

em
 t

o 
cr

ea
te

 a
 r

ap
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 

D
V

D
 c

al
le

d 
‘e

st
at

e 
lif

e’
. T

he
 o

ld
er

 p
ar

tic
ip

an
ts

 w
er

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

  
cr

ea
tin

g 
D

VD
s,

 w
hi

ch
 i

nc
lu

de
d 

m
em

or
ie

s 
of

 t
he

ir 
liv

es
 b

ef
or

e 
m

ov
in

g 
in

to
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e.
 

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Yo

un
g 

Pe
op

le
 

 W
e 

ha
ve

 s
et

 u
p 

an
 E

pp
in

g 
Fo

re
st

 P
la

y 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 fr

om
 th

is
, 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
a 

10
 y

ea
r 

P
la

y 
S

tra
te

gy
 f

or
 0

 –
 1

6 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s.

 T
hi

s 
pr

ov
id

ed
 t

he
 b

as
is

 o
f 

a 
bi

d 
to

 t
he

 B
ig

 L
ot

te
ry

 F
un

d 
fo

r 
£2

40
k 

to
w

ar
ds

 t
he

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 o

f 
ne

w
 p

la
y 

eq
ui

pm
en

t 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 i

n 
th

e 
D

is
tri

ct
. 

Th
is

 f
un

di
ng

 w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 o
ve

r 
20

08
/0

9 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 n
ew

 f
ac

ili
tie

s 
in

 t
he

 a
re

as
 i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 w
ith

 
gr

ea
te

st
 n

ee
d.

 
 W

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
an

 
E

pp
in

g 
Fo

re
st

 
Y

ou
th

 
C

ou
nc

il 
(E

FY
C

) 
in

 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

08
 in

vo
lv

in
g 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
ge

d 
13

 –
 1

7 
ye

ar
s,

 f
ro

m
 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
D

is
tri

ct
. T

he
 E

FY
C

 w
ill

 g
iv

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 a

 'f
or

m
al

 
vo

ic
e'

 o
n 

th
e 

ke
y 

is
su

es
 a

nd
 c

on
ce

rn
s 

th
at

 a
ffe

ct
 th

em
 lo

ca
lly

 a
nd

 
w

ill 
pr

ov
id

e 
a 

di
re

ct
 li

nk
 to

 th
e 

E
ss

ex
 Y

ou
th

 A
ss

em
bl

y.
 

 W
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 E
ss

ex
 C

ou
nt

y 
C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
lo

ca
l p

ar
tn

er
s 

th
ro

ug
h 

a 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

Y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e’
s 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 (

C
Y

P
S

P
), 

w
e 

ha
ve

 a
ttr

ac
te

d 
£9

0k
 to

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t t

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
ne

w
 a

ct
iv

ity
 s

es
si

on
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 p
ar

en
tin

g 
cl

as
se

s 
fo

r 
te

en
ag

er
s 

an
d 

a 
ra

ng
e 

of
 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

 s
up

po
rt 

fo
r 

fa
m

ilie
s.

 A
s 

pa
rt 

of
 C

Y
P

S
P

 w
or

k,
 s

ix
 n

ew
 

‘C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

C
en

tre
s’

 w
ill

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t b

y 
20

08
, t

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
ne

w
 

ch
ild

ca
re

 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

a 
re

so
ur

ce
 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

nd
 lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
iti

es
. 

Th
es

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
ba

se
d 

in
 C

hi
gw

el
l, 

W
al

th
am

 A
bb

ey
, O

ng
ar

 a
nd

 L
ou

gh
to

n.
 

 G
en

er
al

 L
ei

su
re

  
 W

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 o

ur
 p

la
yi

ng
 p

itc
h 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
an

d 
fo

rm
ed

 a
 p

la
y 

pi
tc

h 
st

ra
te

gy
, 

w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 h

el
p 

to
 s

ec
ur

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 f

un
di

ng
 a

nd
 f

ur
th

er
 

de
ve

lo
p 

an
d 

im
pr

ov
e 

ou
r l

oc
al

 p
itc

h 
sp

or
ts

. 
 N

or
th

 W
ea

ld
 A

irf
ie

ld
 h

os
te

d 
nu

m
er

ou
s 

pu
bl

ic
 e

ve
nt

s,
 w

ith
 t

he
 

hi
gh

lig
ht

 o
f 

th
e 

ye
ar

 b
ei

ng
 i

nv
ol

ve
m

en
t 

in
 t

he
 2

1st
 W

or
ld

 S
co

ut
 

Ja
m

bo
re

e 
(W

S
J)

 e
ve

nt
, j

oi
ni

ng
 S

co
ut

s 
fro

m
 1

59
 C

ou
nt

rie
s 

ar
ou

nd
 

th
e 

W
or

ld
. 

N
or

th
 W

ea
ld

 A
irf

ie
ld

 w
as

 u
se

d 
to

 r
eg

is
te

r 
vo

lu
nt

ee
rs

, 
sc

ou
ts

 a
nd

 v
is

ito
rs

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

a 
pa

rk
 a

nd
 ri

de
 a

nd
 fo

od
 d

is
tri

bu
tio

n 
ce

nt
re

. 

Page 80



    

  

 Ec
on

om
ic

 P
ro

sp
er

ity
 

 A
no

th
er

 k
ey

 o
bj

ec
tiv

e 
of

 th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

tra
te

gy
 is

 th
at

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t 

w
ill

 h
av

e 
a 

th
riv

in
g 

an
d 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

lo
ca

l e
co

no
m

y,
 w

hi
ch

 e
xt

en
ds

 
op

po
rtu

ni
ty

 fo
r l

oc
al

 re
si

de
nt

s 
an

d 
pr

om
ot

es
 p

ro
sp

er
ity

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 

th
e 

di
st

ric
t. 

Th
is

 v
is

io
n 

is
 r

ef
le

ct
ed

 in
 t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’s
 o

w
n 

m
ed

iu
m

-
te

rm
 p

rio
rit

ie
s,

 w
hi

ch
 s

ee
k 

to
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 e
co

no
m

ic
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t. 

Th
e 

E
co

no
m

ic
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
fu

nc
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
P

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

E
co

no
m

ic
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
or

tfo
lio

 is
 in

cl
ud

ed
 w

ith
in

 
th

is
 th

em
e.

 
O

ur
 A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 A
im

s  
 W

e 
ha

ve
 

be
en

 
w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 
re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
es

 
of

 
gr

ou
ps

 
w

ith
 

di
sa

bi
lit

ie
s 

us
in

g 
th

ei
r 

kn
ow

le
dg

e 
an

d 
ex

pe
rti

se
 

to
 

co
ns

id
er

 
th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f t

he
 C

ou
nc

ils
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

an
d 

pl
an

s,
 w

hi
ch

 a
ffe

ct
 th

e 
w

ay
 p

eo
pl

e,
 

liv
e 

an
d 

w
or

k.
 

 
W

e 
ap

po
in

te
d 

an
 E

co
no

m
ic

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
of

fic
er

 i
n 

ou
r 

ai
m

 t
o 

ac
hi

ev
e 

bo
th

 
st

ro
ng

er
 

lin
ks

 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
lo

ca
l 

bu
si

ne
ss

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

di
st

ric
t, 

an
d 

a 
fu

ll 
lo

ca
l b

us
in

es
s 

co
m

m
un

ity
 

re
pr

es
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
in

di
vi

du
al

 
To

w
n 

C
en

tre
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 lo

ca
l b

us
in

es
s 

fo
ru

m
s.

 
 Im

pr
ov

in
g 

O
ur

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

  
 Th

is
 th

em
e 

is
 n

ot
 d

ire
ct

ly
 li

nk
ed

 
to

 th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

tra
te

gy
, b

ut
 

re
fle

ct
s 

ke
y 

ar
ea

s 
w

he
re

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 th

at
 it

 
ne

ed
s 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 o

n 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

.  
Th

e 
Le

ad
er

’s
 P

or
tfo

lio
, t

he
 

Fi
na

nc
e,

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t, 
an

d 
C

or
po

ra
te

 
S

up
po

rt 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

P
or

tfo
lio

 a
re

 
in

cl
ud

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

th
em

e.
 T

he
se

 
im

po
rta

nt
 c

or
po

ra
te

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
pr

ov
id

e 
es

se
nt

ia
l s

up
po

rt 
to

 th
e 

w
or

k 
of

 th
e 

co
un

ci
l. 

 O
ur

 A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 A

im
s 

 Va
lu

e 
fo

r M
on

ey
 a

nd
 U

se
 o

f R
es

ou
rc

es
 

 W
e 

ke
pt

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

in
cr

ea
se

 b
el

ow
 th

e 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 th
e 

R
et

ai
l 

P
ric

e 
In

de
x 

of
 3

.5
%

. W
e 

in
tro

du
ce

d 
m

ob
ile

 w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
B

en
ef

its
 

S
er

vi
ce

 a
nd

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
to

p 
qu

ar
til

e 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 in
 o

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
ta

x 
co

lle
ct

io
n 

ra
te

. W
e 

sh
ar

ed
 s

er
vi

ce
 d

el
iv

er
y 

ac
ro

ss
 E

ss
ex

 a
s 

pa
rt 

of
 

th
e 

‘T
ra

ns
fo

rm
at

io
na

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t’ 

in
iti

at
iv

e 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

pu
bl

ic
 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t C
on

ne
ct

 (D
ire

ct
.G

ov
). 

W
e 

jo
in

ed
 t

he
 E

ss
ex

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t 
H

ub
 a

nd
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

e 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

sa
vi

ng
s 

th
ro

ug
h 

ou
r 

de
sk

to
p 

eq
ui

pm
en

t, 
re

fu
se

 
fle

et
 

an
d 

ph
ot

oc
op

ie
r c

on
tra

ct
s.

  
 Th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 a
w

ar
de

d 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
an

 im
pr

ov
ed

 s
co

re
 fo

r 
ou

r u
se

 o
f r

es
ou

rc
es

, w
hi

ch
 a

na
ly

se
s 

ho
w

 c
os

t e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
w

e 
ar

e 
in

 
de

liv
er

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

, 
an

d 
w

e 
in

tro
du

ce
d 

a 
ne

w
 s

ta
ff 

su
gg

es
tio

n 
sc

he
m

e 
to

 e
nt

hu
se

 th
e 

w
or

kf
or

ce
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 s
til

l f
ur

th
er

. 
 Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
lis

te
ne

d 
to

 w
ha

t r
es

id
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 d
is

tri
ct

 h
av

e 
sa

id
 

in
 o

ur
 C

us
to

m
er

 S
at

is
fa

ct
io

n 
S

ur
ve

ys
 f

or
 2

00
7.

 T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

is
 

un
de

rg
oi

ng
 a

n 
or

ga
ni

sa
tio

na
l r

es
tru

ct
ur

e 
in

 o
rd

er
 t

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
an

d 
en

ha
nc

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
de

liv
er

y.
 

Th
is

 
w

ill
 

in
vo

lv
e 

so
m

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 

be
co

m
in

g 
fu

lly
 i

nt
eg

ra
te

d 
su

ch
 a

s 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Pr
ot

ec
tio

n 
an

d 
S

tre
et

 S
ce

ne
, 

w
hi

ch
 w

ill 
ha

ve
 m

or
e 

in
pu

t 
in

to
 n

ot
 o

nl
y 

pr
ot

ec
tin

g 
ou

r e
nv

iro
nm

en
t b

ut
 a

ls
o 

pr
ot

ec
tin

g 
ou

r c
iti

ze
ns

.  
   

 W
an

t t
o 

fin
d 

ou
t m

or
e?

 
  If 

yo
u 

w
ou

ld
 

lik
e 

to
 

kn
ow

 
m

or
e 

ab
ou

t 
ou

r 
pr

io
rit

ie
s 

an
d 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
, 

yo
u 

ca
n 

w
rit

e 
to

 u
s 

or
 c

on
ta

ct
 o

ur
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

U
ni

t 
on

 t
he

 t
el

ep
ho

ne
 a

nd
 f

ax
 n

um
be

rs
 o

r 
em

ai
l 

ad
dr

es
s 

gi
ve

n 
ea

rli
er

 in
 th

is
 le

af
le

t. 
 

 C
op

ie
s 

of
 th

e 
B

es
t V

al
ue

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 P
la

n 
w

ill
 a

ls
o 

be
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

at
 o

ur
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ce

nt
er

s,
 o

r f
ro

m
 o

ur
 w

eb
si

te
 

(w
w

w
.e

pp
in

gf
or

es
td

c.
go

v.
uk

). 
W

e 
w

ill 
al

so
 b

e 
ab

le
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 

co
py

 in
 la

rg
e 

pr
in

t o
r o

n 
au

di
ot

ap
e 

if 
re

qu
ire

d.
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Finance & Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel 
 
 
Date of meeting: 11 February 2008 
 
Portfolio: Finance, Performance Management and 
Corporate Support Services 
 
Subject: Quarterly Financial Monitoring  
 
Officer contact for further information: Peter Maddock (01992 - 56 4602). 
 
Democratic Services Officer: Adrian Hendry (01992 – 56 4246) 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That the Panel note the revenue and capital financial monitoring report for the third 
quarter of 2007/08;  
 
Report: 
 
1. The Panel has within its terms of reference to consider financial monitoring reports on 
key areas of income and expenditure for each portfolio. This is the third quarterly report for 
2007/08 and covers the period from 1 April 2007 to 31 December 2007. 
 
2. Salaries monitoring data is presented as well as it represents a large proportion of the 
authorities expenditure and is an area in which large under spends have been seen. The 
salaries data is held by Service rather than by portfolio, although there are clearly some 
services that are linked closely to particular portfolios.  
 
Revenue Budgets (Annex 1 – 9) 
 
3. Comments are provided on the monitoring schedules but a few points are highlighted 
here as they are of particular significance. The salaries schedule (Annex 1) shows an 
underspend of £283,000. This is after the settlement of the 2007/08 pay award, and 
represents 2% of the budget. Most of this underspend relates to the General Fund. The 
position at Month 9 2007/08 is significantly better than at this time in 2006/07 when the 
budget was underspent by 4.5%.  

 
4. Income budgets are generally looking more volatile than in 2006/07. Development 
Control income at Month 6 was £70,000 down on expectations however due to a number of 
larger schemes coming through during Months 8 and 9 the shortfall has reduced to £32,000 a 
little under the £40,000 included in the revised budget. Building Control shows an over 
achievement, this is due in part to extra income for work done on behalf of other authorities. 
Land Charge search income is also down by £41,000 compared to a revised prediction of 
£57,000. Although both Development Control and Land Charge income are performing better 
than the revised estimates it is possible that the position could worsen again. 
 
5. Income from recycling credits is significantly higher than expected due to the recycling 
levels being achieved, however this is being balanced by higher expenditure. 
 
6. Income from car parking is lower than expectations particularly relating to penalty 
charge notices. Bed and Breakfast charges are significantly down but this is because related 
expenditure is down as fewer people have been placed in Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation. 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 83



 
7. The Housing Repairs Fund also shows an underspend. Much of this is due to late 
invoicing by the gas servicing contractor.  
 
8. The payments to Sports and Leisure Management Ltd are again lagging behind the 
profiled budget this is due to a dispute with the November invoice. 
 
9. This report has been circulated to Portfolio-holders. An oral update will be provided to 
cover any additional comments or information received from Portfolio-holders.  
 
Capital Budgets (Annex 10-14) 
 
10. Tables for capital expenditure monitoring purposes (annex 10 -14) are included for 
the half year to 30 September. The tables show the major schemes separately with other 
more minor items being summarised. There is a brief commentary on each item highlighting 
the scheme progress.  

 
11. The full year budget for comparison purposes is the revised budget as submitted to 
Cabinet on 8 October 2007 and approved by Council on 30 October 2007. 

 
12. The process of profiling capital budgets has now been completed and all variations 
relate to differences between actual and expected spending patterns. 
 
Major Capital Schemes (Annex 15) 
 
13. An additional schedule is included that looks at progress on those schemes with total 
budget provision in excess of £1m. The schedule monitors the schemes in total rather than 
by financial year. The total cost figures shown in columns six and seven therefore relate to 
two or more financial years. The original anticipated start dates where applicable are also 
included and where this was not achieved a revised or actual start date is given. There is 
also some commentary on the schemes for information. 
 
Conclusion 

 
14. There is still a degree of concern over the lower than originally anticipated levels of 
income from Development Control and Land Charges. Comfort can be drawn from the fact 
that the revised estimate takes this into account and allows for these variances to be 
financed by the DDF. It is also worth noting that the CSB budget in total is also expected to 
underspend when compared to the original budget. 

 
15. The panel is asked to note the position on both revenue and capital budgets as at 
Month 9 and the Major Capital Schemes monitoring schedule. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 84



P
O

R
T

F
O

L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

S
A

L
A

R
IE

S
A

N
N

E
X

 1

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
6
/0

7

S
E

R
V

IC
E

E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

B
U

D
G

E
T

V
A

R
IA

T
IO

N
E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
B

U
D

G
E

T
V

A
R

IA
T

IO
N

T
O

3
1
/1

2
/0

7
P

R
O

V
IS

IO
N

F
R

O
M

B
U

D
G

E
T

T
O

3
1
/1

2
/0

6
P

R
O

V
IS

IO
N

F
R

O
M

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
R

IG
IN

A
L

)
(O

R
IG

IN
A

L
)

(O
R

IG
IN

A
L

)
(O

R
IG

IN
A

L
)

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

%
£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

%

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
2
5
4

2
7
0

-5
.9

2
4
3

2
6
2

-7
.3

IN
T

E
R

N
A

L
A

U
D

IT
1
4
6

1
4
6

0
.0

1
4
6

1
4
5

0
.7

H
R

&
P

M
U

2
7
5

3
1
2

-1
1
.9

2
3
9

2
9
5

-1
9
.0

R
E

S
E

A
R

C
H

&
D

E
M

O
C

R
A

T
IC

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
5
3
0

5
2
9

0
.2

5
2
0

5
4
9

-5
.3

L
E

G
A

L
,A

D
M

IN
&

E
S

T
A

T
E

S
 *

1
,1

1
7

1
,1

3
6

-1
.7

1
,1

3
5

1
,1

4
0

-0
.4

F
IN

A
N

C
E

  
*

2
,1

6
1

2
,1

8
0

-0
.9

2
,1

2
6

2
,0

7
9

2
.3

IN
F

O
,C

O
M

M
&

T
E

C
H

6
5
2

7
4
3

-1
2
.2

6
0
6

6
8
9

-1
2
.0

H
O

U
S

IN
G

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
*

2
,3

0
2

2
,3

2
8

-1
.1

2
,1

6
2

2
,2

4
0

-3
.5

P
U

B
L

IC
 W

O
R

K
S

U
N

IT
1
,2

8
6

1
,2

7
2

1
.1

1
,2

7
7

1
,4

2
8

-1
0
.6

E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
*

1
,7

8
9

1
,8

5
0

-3
.3

1
,7

3
7

1
,7

4
8

-0
.6

P
L

A
N

N
IN

G
  
*

1
,6

0
9

1
,6

1
0

-0
.1

1
,4

5
7

1
,6

4
8

-1
1
.6

L
E

IS
U

R
E

*
1
,7

9
1

1
,8

1
9

-1
.5

1
,7

5
7

1
,8

0
7

-2
.8

T
O

T
A

L
1
3
,9

1
2

1
4
,1

9
5

-2
.0

1
3
,4

0
5

1
4
,0

3
0

-4
.5

*
A

g
e
n
c
y

c
o
s
ts

a
re

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
 t
h
e

s
a
la

ri
e
s

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

.

Page 85



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

W
E

L
L
B

E
IN

G
A

N
N

E
X

 2

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s
:

G
ra

n
ts

 t
o

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
 G

ro
u
p
s

1
3
1

1
0
1

3
4

4
0

-6
7

-6
6

2
0
0
7
/0

8
a
c
tu

a
l

in
c
lu

d
e
s

a
c
re

d
it

o
f

£
1
8
,0

0
0

re
la

ti
n
g

to
g
ra

n
ts

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

in
2
0
0
6
/0

7
b
u
t

a
s

y
e
t

u
n
p
a
id

.
£
4
1
,0

0
0

re
m

a
in

s
u
n
c
o
m

m
it
te

d
in

th
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t

y
e
a
r,

a
n
d

£
3
8
,0

0
0

re
la

te
s

to
g
ra

n
ts

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

b
u
t
u
n
p
a
id

.

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
S

e
c
to

r
S

u
p
p
o
rt

1
7
0

1
5
0

1
5
0

1
5
9

0
0
.0

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

F
a
re

s
8
1
2

7
1
7

7
1
4

4
5
2

-3
-0

.4

1
,1

1
3

9
6
8

8
9
8

6
5
1

T
h
ir
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

Page 86



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
- 

F
IN

A
N

C
E

&
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

&
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

S
U

P
P

O
R

T
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

A
N

N
E

X
 3

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s
:

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 T

e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y

6
3
9

4
8
2

4
7
2

4
8
3

-1
0

-2
.1

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
s

1
9
9

1
4
9

1
6
1

1
0
0

1
2

8
.1

T
h
e

a
c
tu

a
ls

n
o
w

in
c
lu

d
e

a
ll

c
h
a
rg

e
s

fo
r

te
le

p
h
o
n
e
s
 ,

 w
h
e
re

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

n
o
n

C
iv

ic
 O

ff
ic

e

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s

w
e
re

c
h
a
rg

e
d

d
ir

e
c
t.

T
h
e

R
e
v
is

e
d

b
u
d
g
e
t

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
m

e
n
d
e
d

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.

8
3
8

6
3
1

6
3
3

5
8
5

M
a
jo

r
in

c
o
m

e
it
e
m

s
:

L
o
c
a
l
L
a
n
d

C
h
a
rg

e
s

4
0
0

3
0
0

2
5
9

3
0
7

-4
1

-1
3
.7

In
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f

th
e

H
o
m

e
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

p
a
c
k
s

a
p
p
e
a
rs

to
h
a
v
e

h
a
d

a
n

e
ff

e
c
t

o
n

in
c
o
m

e
le

v
e
ls

a
s

a
p
e
rs

o
n
a
l

s
e
a
rc

h
m

a
k
e
s

th
e

c
o
s
t

o
f

th
e

p
a
c
k

c
h
e
a
p
e
r.

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

re
la

ti
n
g

to
w

o
rk

d
o
n
e

b
y

th
e

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

is
a
ls

o
d
o
w

n
a
n
d

m
it
ig

a
te

s

th
e

lo
s
t

in
c
o
m

e
to

a
d
e
g
re

e
.

D
D

F
it
e
m

s
a
re

n
o
w

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
th

e
R

e
v
is

e
d

E
s
ti
m

a
te

fo
r

a
n
e
t

£
3
7
,0

0
0
 G

ro
w

th
in

 t
h
e

b
u
d
g
e
t.

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
E

s
ta

te
s

8
8
2

8
4
7

8
5
5

8
9
1

8
0
.9

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l

re
n
ta

l
in

c
o
m

e
re

la
te

s
to

O
a
k
w

o
o
d

H
il
l

w
o
rk

s
h
o
p

u
n
it
s

w
h
e
re

c
e
rt

a
in

re
n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

re
v
ie

w
e
d
.

T
h
e

R
e
v
is

e
d

b
u
d
g
e
ts

re
fl
e
c
t

th
e

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
.

L
a
n
d

&
P

ro
p
e
rt

y
2
0
4

1
1
0

1
0
8

9
9

-2
-1

.8

1
,4

8
6

1
,2

5
7

1
,2

2
2

1
,2

9
7

B
u
d
g
e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

T
h
ir

d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri

a
n
c
e

Page 87



2
0

0
7

/0
8

 P
O

R
T

F
O

L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
 -

 P
L

A
N

N
IN

G
 &

 E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

A
N

N
E

X
 4

0
7

/0
8

C
o

m
m

e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e

a
r

0
7

/0
8

0
7

/0
8

0
6

/0
7

B
u
d

g
e

t
B

u
d

g
e

t
A

c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a

jo
r 

e
xp

e
n
d

it
u
re

it
e

m
s

F
o

rw
a

rd
 P

la
n
n
in

g
2

2
6

1
2

9
5

9
-3

-2
5

.0
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

s
tu

d
ie

s
o

n
th

e
L

o
c
a

l

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

F
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
w

ill
b

e
g

in
a

ft
e

r

p
u
b

lic
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
E

a
s
t

o
f

E
n
g

la
n
d

P
la

n
w

h
ic

h
w

a
s

d
u
e

a
t

th
e

e
n
d

o
f

2
0

0
7

,
b

u
t

is
n
o

w
e

xp
e

c
te

d
in

s
p

ri
n
g

2
0

0
8

.
T

h
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t

y
e

a
r

D
D

F
e

xp
e

n
d

it
u
re

is

e
xp

e
c
te

d
to

b
e

£
4

0
,0

0
0

,
in

s
te

a
d

o
f

th
e

O
ri
g

in
a

l

E
s
ti
m

a
te

o
f

£
2

1
1

,0
0

0
w

it
h

th
e

b
a

la
n
c
e

b
e

in
g

s
lip

p
e

d
in

to
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

1
3

0
8

2
8

5
1

3
1

3
3

.7

B
u
ild

in
g

 C
o

n
tr

o
l 
F

e
e

 E
a

rn
in

g
5

3
2

6
3

4
1

7
8

3
0

.1

T
h
e

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
e

xp
e

n
d

it
u
re

re
la

te
s

to
c
o

n
s
u
lt
a

n
c
y

c
o

s
ts

fo
r

b
u
ild

in
g

s
u
rv

e
y
o

rs
fe

e
s

w
h
ic

h
is

o
ff

s
e

t
b

y

th
e

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
in

c
o

m
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
e

d
 b

e
lo

w
.

E
n
fo

rc
e

m
e

n
t

1
3

9
9

6
9

4
0

-2
-2

.1
W

o
rk

s
to

c
le

a
r

th
e

P
a

y
n
e

s
L

a
n
e

s
it
e

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
a

n
d

th
e

re
a

re
n
o

fu
rt

h
e

r
c
o

s
ts

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
in

 t
h
e

n
e

a
r 

fu
tu

re
.

5
4

8
2

1
6

2
2

2
2

0
7

M
a

jo
r

in
c
o

m
e

it
e

m
s

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

5
8

0
4

3
0

3
9

9
4

2
3

-3
1

-7
.2

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l

F
e

e
In

c
o

m
e

h
a

s
re

c
o

v
e

re
d

w
e

ll
in

th
e

th
ir
d

q
u
a

rt
e

r
w

it
h

m
a

jo
r

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
s

a
t

S
t

M
a

rg
a

re
t`

s
H

o
s
p

it
a

l,
L

a
n
g

s
to

n
R

o
a

d
,

G
ra

n
g

e

F
a

rm
C

h
ig

w
e

ll
a

n
d

L
id

l
W

a
lt
h
a

m
A

b
b

e
y

b
e

in
g

re
c
ie

v
e

d
,

m
a

k
in

g
u
p

fo
r

s
o

m
e

o
f

th
e

s
h
o

rt
fa

ll

re
p

o
rt

e
d

a
t

q
u
a

rt
e

r
2

.
A

D
D

F
g

ro
w

th
it
e

m
fo

r
lo

s
s

o
f

in
c
o

m
e

o
f

£
4

0
,0

0
0

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
in

c
lu

d
e

d
in

th
e

re
v
is

e
d

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

s

B
u
ild

in
g

 C
o

n
tr

o
l 
F

e
e

 E
a

rn
in

g
5

7
6

4
4

4
4

8
5

3
9

4
4

1
9

.2
B

u
ild

in
g

C
o

n
tr

o
l
fe

e
in

c
o

m
e

a
p

p
e

a
rs

m
o

re
b

o
u
y
a

n
t

th
a

n
n
o

rm
a

lly
e

xp
e

c
te

d
w

h
ic

h
is

u
n
u
s
u
a

l
a

s
th

e

in
c
o

m
e

tr
e

n
d

is
g

e
n
e

ra
lly

s
im

ila
r

to
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

n
tr

o
l.

S
o

m
e

o
f

th
is

in
c
o

m
e

is
o

ff
s
e

t
b

y
th

e

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l 
e

xp
e

n
d

it
u
re

 a
b

o
v
e

.

1
,1

5
6

8
7

4
8

8
4

8
1

7

B
u
d

g
e

t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

T
h
ir
d

 Q
u
a

rt
e

r
0

7
/0

8

V
a

ri
a

n
c
e

Page 88



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
 -

 E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
A

N
N

E
X

 5

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s
:

R
e
fu

s
e

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

2
,2

9
3

1
,7

0
4

1
,6

7
3

1
,5

5
9

-3
1

-1
.8

2
P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

to
th

e
c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
a
re

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

o
n
e

m
o
n
th

b
e
h
in

d
,

d
u
e

to
a
n

in
v
o
ic

e
d
is

p
u
te

.
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l

c
o
s
ts

o
f

th
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

p
ri
o
r

to
th

e
a
w

a
rd

to
th

e
n
e
w

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

a
llo

w
e
d

fo
r

w
it
h
in

th
e

re
v
is

e
d

e
s
ti
m

a
te

.

S
tr

e
e
t

C
le

a
n
s
in

g
1
,9

1
1

1
,2

6
8

1
,2

7
2

8
6
1

4
0
.3

2

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
1
,6

2
7

1
,1

3
6

1
,3

4
2

9
3
5

2
0
6

1
8
.1

3
A

n
in

c
re

a
s
e

in
th

e
a
m

o
u
n
t

o
f

re
c
y
c
lin

g
h
a
s

m
e
a
n
t

th
a
t

m
o
re

s
a
c
k
s

n
e
e
d

to
b
e

p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
d
,

re
s
u
lt
in

g
in

£
1
6
1
,0

0
0

e
xt

ra
e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

.
T

h
e

m
a
jo

ri
ty

o
f

th
e

re
m

a
in

d
e
r

o
f

th
e

v
a
ri
a
n
c
e

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
a
u
s
e
d

b
y

a
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

ra
te

s
.

B
o
th

is
s
u
e
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d

b
y

th
e

re
v
is

e
d

e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
a
s

D
D

F

e
x p

e
n
d
it
u
re

.

5
,8

3
1

4
,1

0
8

4
,2

8
7

3
,3

5
5

M
a
jo

r
in

c
o
m

e
it
e
m

s
:

R
e
fu

s
e

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

7
3

3
9

8
5

4
1

4
6

1
1
7
.9

5
T

h
e
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
th

e
ti
p
p
in

g
a
w

a
y

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

(£
3
8
,0

0
0
)

a
n
d

o
v
e
r

a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
o
n

s
p
e
c
ia

l
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s
 (

£
7
,0

0
0
).

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
5
9
4

2
9
7

4
3
4

3
4
3

1
3
7

4
6
.1

3
T

h
e

ra
te

o
f

re
c
y
c
lin

g
h
a
s

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
,

re
s
u
lt
in

g
in

m
o
re

re
c
y
c
lin

g
c
re

d
it
s

fr
o
m

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

th
a
n

e
xp

e
c
te

d
.

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
&

 r
e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

6
9

5
2

9
0

8
4

3
8

7
3
.0

8
T

h
is

in
c
o
m

e
s
tr

e
a
m

is
v
a
ri
a
b
le

;
h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

a
re

v
ie

w

o
f

p
re

v
io

u
s

y
e
a
rs

'
in

c
o
m

e
s
tr

e
a
m

s
h
a
v
e

le
d

to
th

e

b
u
d
g
e
ts

b
e
in

g
in

c
re

a
s
e
d

d
u
ri
n
g

th
e

re
v
is

e
d

e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
p
ro

c
e
s
s
.

H
a
c
k
n
e
y

C
a
rr

ia
g
e
s

1
1
2

8
3

1
2
5

1
0
0

4
2

5
0
.6

0
T

h
e

d
e
m

a
n
d

fo
r

h
a
c
k
n
e
y

c
a
rr

ia
g
e

lic
e
n
c
e
s

is

v
a
ri
a
b
le

,
a
n
d

in
c
o
m

e
le

v
e
ls

c
a
n
n
o
t

b
e

p
re

d
ic

te
d

in

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
.

D
e
m

a
n
d

is
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

h
ig

h
,

a
s

E
p
p
in

g
is

p
o
p
u
la

r
w

it
h

ta
xi

d
ri
v
e
rs

m
o
v
in

g
th

e
ir

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

a
re

a
s

o
u
t

o
f 

th
e

C
it
y
.

8
4
8

4
7
1

7
3
4

5
6
8

T
h
ir
d

Q
u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

B
u
d
g
e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

Page 89



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

C
IV

IL
E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

&
M

A
IN

T
E

N
A

N
C

E
A

N
N

E
X

 6

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s
:

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 G

e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n
d

3
2
2

2
2
6

2
2
6

2
0
6

0
0
.0

O
ff

S
tr

e
e
t

P
a
rk

in
g

5
1
2

3
9
0

4
3
3

3
5
5

4
3

1
1
.0

3
} } }

O
n

S
tr

e
e
t

P
a
rk

in
g

4
3
7

3
0
3

2
3
8

2
3
6

-6
5

-2
1
.4

5
}

1
,2

7
1

9
1
9

8
9
7

7
9
7

M
a
jo

r
in

c
o
m

e
it
e
m

s
:

O
ff

S
tr

e
e
t

P
a
rk

in
g

1
,0

6
2

7
8
9

7
5
9

7
7
7

-3
0

-3
.8

0

P
a
y

&
D

is
p
la

y
in

c
o
m

e
is

£
1
0
,0

0
0

b
e
lo

w
e
s
ti
m

a
te

,

a
n
d

P
e
n
a
lt
y

C
h
a
rg

e
in

c
o
m

e
is

d
o
w

n
b
y

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.

T
h
is

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

o
ff

s
e
t

b
y

s
e
a
s
o
n

ti
c
k
e
t

in
c
o
m

e
,

£
7
,0

0
0

a
b
o
v
e

o
ri

g
in

a
l
e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
.

O
n

S
tr

e
e
t

P
a
rk

in
g

5
7
6

3
3
0

3
3
8

3
4
5

8
2
.4

2

1
,6

3
8

1
,1

1
9

1
,0

9
7

1
,1

2
2

T
h
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

re
-e

x
a
m

in
e
d
,

a
n
d

jo
in

t

c
o
s
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

re
-a

ll
o
c
a
te

d
m

o
re

lo
g
ic

a
ll
y
. 

T
h
is

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

re
v
is

e
d

e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
.

T
h
ir

d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri

a
n
c
e

B
u
d
g
e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

Page 90



2
0

0
7

/0
8

P
O

R
T

F
O

L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

L
E

IS
U

R
E

A
N

N
E

X
 7

0
7

/0
8

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

F
u

ll
Y

e
a

r
0

7
/0

8
0

7
/0

8
0

6
/0

7

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a

jo
r

e
xp

e
n

d
it
u

re
it
e

m
s
:

M
u

s
e

u
m

1
1

7
9

1
6

8
7

5
-2

3
-2

5
.2

7
U

n
d

e
rs

p
e

n
d

 t
o

d
a

te
o

n
E

xh
ib

it
io

n
s

a
n

d
O

u
tr

e
a

c
h

P
la

y
g

ro
u

n
d

s
&

O
p

e
n

S
p

a
c
e

s
2

0
1

1
5

1
1

4
8

1
3

9
-3

-1
.9

9

N
o

rt
h

W
e

a
ld

C
e

n
tr

e
3

6
0

2
3

6
2

5
2

1
8

6
1

6
6

.7
8

T
h

e
o

v
e

rs
p

e
n

d
re

la
te

s
m

a
in

ly
to

w
o

rk
c
a

rr
ie

d
o

u
t

to
re

p
a

ir
d

a
m

a
g

e
to

th
e

ro
a

d
w

a
y

a
s

a
re

s
u

lt
o

f

th
e

N
o

rj
a

m
e

v
e

n
t.

T
h

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

h
a

s
b

e
e

n

re
im

b
u

rs
e

d
fo

r 
th

e
c
o

s
t

o
f 

th
e

w
o

rk
s

in
v
o

lv
e

d
.

6
7

8
4

7
8

4
6

8
4

0
0

M
a

jo
r

in
c
o

m
e

it
e

m
s
:

N
o

rt
h

W
e

a
ld

C
e

n
tr

e
1

,3
0

9
1

0
6

0
1

1
4

0
9

8
5

8
0

7
.5

5

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t

c
o

s
t

M
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g

L
e

is
u

re
 F

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
:-

L
o

u
g

h
to

n
L

e
is

u
re

C
e

n
tr

e
5

4
3

6
3

1
8

1
-5

-1
3

.8
9

E
p

p
in

g
S

p
o

rt
s

C
e

n
tr

e
1

3
8

9
2

8
0

7
8

-1
2

-1
3

.0
4

W
a

lt
h

a
m

A
b

b
e

y
S

w
im

m
in

g
P

o
o

l
4

4
6

2
9

7
2

6
0

2
9

5
-3

7
-1

2
.4

6

O
n

g
a

r
S

p
o

rt
s

C
e

n
tr

e
3

4
7

2
3

2
2

0
2

3
6

5
-3

0
-1

2
.9

3

9
8

5
6

5
7

5
7

3
8

1
9

T
h

ir
d

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

0
7

/0
8

B
u

d
g

e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

T
h

e
D

D
F

in
c
o

m
e

fo
r

th
e

S
c
o

u
ts

J
a

m
b

o
re

e
w

a
s

o
ri

g
in

a
lly

a
s
s
e

s
s
e

d
a

t
£

5
0

,0
0

0
;

in
th

e
e

v
e

n
t,

£
7

3
,0

0
0

w
a

s
n

e
g

o
ti
a

te
d

.
In

a
d

d
it
io

n
,

£
5

0
,0

0
0

h
a

s
b

e
e

n
re

c
e

iv
e

d
in

re
im

b
u

rs
e

m
e

n
t

fo
r

th
e

ro
a

d
w

a
y

w
o

rk
s
.

T
h

e
N

o
v
e

m
b

e
r

2
0

0
7

in
v
o

ic
e

to
S

p
o

rt
s

a
n

d

L
e

is
u

re
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
L

td
w

a
s

d
e

la
y
e

d
fo

r

a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
c
h

e
c
k
s

a
n

d
E

F
D

C
a

re
a

w
a

it
in

g
th

e

in
v
o

ic
e

fr
o

m
S

L
M

fo
r

p
a

y
m

e
n

t.

V
a

ri
a

n
c
e

Page 91



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

H
O

U
S

IN
G

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L
F

U
N

D
A

N
N

E
X

 8

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s

B
e
d

&
B

re
a
k
fa

s
t
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

3
4
9

2
6
2

8
5

2
5
9

-1
7
7

-6
7
.5

6

M
a
jo

r
in

c
o
m

e
it
e
m

s

B
e
d

&
B

re
a
k
fa

s
t
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

3
7
4

2
8
0

1
1
4

2
7
1

-1
6
6

-5
9
.2

9
T

h
e

lo
w

e
r

re
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
t

fi
g
u
re

is
a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

o
f

th
e

a
fo

rm
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
n
u
m

b
e
rs

p
la

c
e
d

in

B
e
d

a
n
d

B
re

a
k
fa

s
t
a
c
c
o
m

o
d
a
ti
o
n
.

L
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

A
d
m

in
1
5
0

5
4

4
-1

-2
0
.0

0

5
2
4

2
8
5

1
1
8

2
7
5

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

p
la

c
e
d

in
b
e
d

a
n
d

b
re

a
k
fa

s
t

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

le
s
s

th
a
n

o
ri
g
in

a
lly

fo
re

c
a
s
t,

la
rg

e
ly

d
u
e

to
p
ro

a
c
ti
v
e

a
d
v
ic

e

a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
.

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

T
h
ir
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

Page 92



2
0
0
7
/0

8
P

O
R

T
F

O
L
IO

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

H
O

U
S

IN
G

R
E

V
E

N
U

E
A

C
C

O
U

N
T

A
N

N
E

X
 9

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8
0
6
/0

7

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

M
a
jo

r
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

it
e
m

s
:

M
a
n
a
g
in

g
 T

e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
2
7
4

2
5
9

2
3
9

2
8
2

-2
0

-7
.7

2
T

h
e

m
a
in

it
e
m

o
f

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

re
la

te
s

to

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l

fe
e
s

fo
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s

in
to

fo
rm

e
r

te
n
a
n
t

a
rr

e
a
rs

.

H
o
u
s
in

g
R

e
p
a
ir

s
5
,5

6
5

4
,1

7
4

3
,8

8
5

3
,8

1
5

-2
8
9

-6
.9

2
T

h
e

m
a
jo

ri
ty

o
f

th
is

v
a
ri

a
n
c
e

re
la

te
s

to
a
n

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

o
n

th
e

g
a
s

s
e
rv

ic
in

g
b
u
d
g
e
t.

O
n
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
is

s
u
b
m

it
ti
n
g

in
v
o
ic

e
s

o
n
e

m
o
n
th

la
te

r

th
a
n

a
g
re

e
d
.

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
It

e
m

s
1
,5

1
1

1
,0

7
6

9
7
8

8
9
4

-9
8

-9
.1

1

7
,3

5
0

5
,5

0
9

5
,1

0
2

4
,9

9
1

M
a
jo

r
in

c
o
m

e
it
e
m

s
:

G
ro

s
s

D
w

e
ll
in

g
R

e
n
t

2
3
,3

8
5

1
7
,6

4
9

1
7
,6

3
4

1
7
,0

8
4

-1
5

-0
.0

8

T
h
e
re

is
a

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
re

a
s

s
h
o
w

in
g

a
n

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
,

th
e

m
o
s
t

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t

o
f

w
h
ic

h
is

h
e
a
ti
n
g

a
n
d

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
.

T
h
ir

d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri

a
n
c
e

B
u
d
g
e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



2
0
0
7
/0

8
C

A
P

IT
A

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

F
IN

A
N

C
E

,
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

&
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
E

S
U

P
P

O
R

T
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

a
n
d

L
E

A
D

E
R

S
A

N
N

E
X

1
0

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

F
in

a
n

c
e
,
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a
n

't
&

C
S

S

Y
o
u
th

S
p
o
rt

s
F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s

1
3
2

6
8

0
-6

8
0

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h

n
o

g
ra

n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

p
a
id

a
s

a
t
m

o
n
th

9
,

R
o
y
d
o
n

(£
4
0
,0

0
0
)

a
n
d

M
a
tc

h
in

g
(£

2
8
,0

0
0
)

a
re

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.
E

v
e
ry

e
ff

o
rt

is
b
e
in

g
m

a
d
e
 t
o

c
o
m

p
le

te

a
ll

re
m

a
in

in
g

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
  
th

is
y
e
a
r,

b
u
t
re

a
lis

ti
c
a
lly

,

th
e
re

is
lik

e
ly

 t
o

b
e

a
c
a
rr

y
o
v
e
r

o
f

u
p
 t
o

£
7
3
,0

0
0
.
It

is
e
xp

e
c
te

d
  
th

a
t
a

re
p
o
rt

w
ill

b
e

p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 t
o

C
a
b
in

e
t
o
n

1
0

M
a
rc

h
2
0
0
8
.

M
e
s
s
e
n
g
e
r

V
e
h
ic

le
1
5

1
5

1
5

0
0

S
c
h
e
m

e
c
o
m

p
le

te
.

C
iv

ic
 O

ff
ic

e
W

o
rk

s
(i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
P

la
n
n
in

g

S
e
rv

ic
e

A
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

w
o
rk

s
)

7
7

5
4

-5
-5

9
0

W
o
rk

o
n
 t
h
e

C
iv

ic
 O

ff
ic

e
p
ro

je
c
ts

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

d
e
la

y
e
d

s
o

fa
r 

th
is

y
e
a
r.

In
a
d
d
it
io

n
,
a
n

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
c
re

d
it
o
r

h
a
s

y
e
t 
to

b
e

c
le

a
re

d
.

IE
G

fu
n
d
e
d

IC
T

s
c
h
e
m

e
s

3
0
4

2
2
8

1
3
8

-9
0

-3
9

A
ll

IE
G

fu
n
d
e
d

s
c
h
e
m

e
s

a
re

b
ro

a
d
ly

o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t.

T
h
e

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f 

th
e

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

a
n
d

B
e
n
e
fi
ts

s
y
s
te

m
re

p
re

s
e
n
ts

 t
h
e

m
a
in

s
c
h
e
m

e
a
t

£
2
4
0
,0

0
0

o
f 

th
e

fu
ll

y
e
a
r

b
u
d
g
e
t.

O
th

e
r

IC
T

P
ro

je
c
ts

4
3
9

2
9
9

1
3
5

-1
6
4

-5
5

M
o
s
t
o
f 

th
e

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

re
la

te
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 G

e
n
e
ra

l
IT

b
u
d
g
e
t
w

h
ic

h
is

p
la

n
n
e
d
 t
o

b
e

s
p
e
n
t
a
t 
th

e
e
n
d

o
f

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

G
e
n
e
ra

l
C

a
p
it
a
l
C

o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y

1
8
1

0
0

0
0

T
h
is

u
n
a
llo

c
a
te

d
b
u
d
g
e
t
is

a
u
to

m
a
ti
c
a
lly

p
ro

fi
le

d
in

to

m
o
n
th

1
2

u
n
le

s
s

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

is
g
ra

n
te

d
 t
o

u
s
e

it
o
n

a

s
p
e
c
if
ic

s
c
h
e
m

e
.
It

is
 t
h
e
n

m
o
v
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e

re
le

v
a
n
t

G
e
n
e
ra

l
F

u
n
d

C
a
p
it
a
l
h
e
a
d
in

g
.

T
o
ta

l
1
,1

4
8

6
6
4

2
8
3

-3
8
1

-5
7

L
e
a
d

e
r'

s
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

M
e
rl
in

W
a
y

L
a
n
d

S
a
le

1
5

1
1

5
-6

-5
6

T
o
ta

l
1
5

1
1

5
-6

-5
6

B
u
d
g
e
t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

T
h
ir
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

Page 95



2
0

0
7

/0
8

C
A

P
IT

A
L

M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

-
L

E
IS

U
R

E
a

n
d

E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
A

N
N

E
X

1
1

0
7

/0
8

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

F
u

ll
Y

e
a

r
0

7
/0

8
0

7
/0

8

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

L
e

is
u

re

L
o

u
g

h
to

n
L

e
is

u
re

C
e

n
tr

e
1

4
0

0
0

0

T
h

is
b

u
d

g
e

t
is

fo
r 

tw
o

h
e

a
lt
h

a
n

d
s
a

fe
ty

is
s
u

e
s

a
n

d
fo

r

w
o

rk
 t

o
 t

h
e

h
o

t
w

a
te

r
s
y
s
te

m
.

T
h

e
fo

rm
e

r
s
h

o
u

ld
b

e

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
in

 t
h

e
n

e
xt

fe
w

m
o

n
th

s
.

H
o

w
e

v
e

r,
S

L
M

a
re

s
ti
ll

in
v
e

s
ti
g

a
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

h
o

t
w

a
te

r
s
y
s
te

m
a

n
d

 t
h

e
£

7
,0

0
0

b
u

d
g

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

m
a

y
h

a
v
e

 t
o

b
e

c
a

rr
ie

d
fo

rw
a

rd
.

O
n

g
a

r
L

e
is

u
re

C
e

n
tr

e
3

0
0

0
0

E
xp

e
n

d
it
u

re
is

p
la

n
n

e
d

fo
r

M
a

rc
h

w
h

e
n

w
o

rk
w

ill

c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

in
s
u

p
p

o
rt

o
f

a
s
c
h

e
m

e
 t

o
im

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e

p
it
c
h

e
s

a
t

O
n

g
a

r
a

s
a

m
u

lt
i-

s
p

o
rt

s
h

u
b

.

N
W

A
ir

fi
e

ld
M

a
rk

e
t 

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

1
1

0
8

3
3

4
-4

9
-5

9
T

h
e

a
c
tu

a
l
e

xp
e

n
d

it
u

re
 t

o
m

o
n

th
9

a
p

p
e

a
rs

 t
o

h
a

v
e

re
d

u
c
e

d
s
in

c
e

m
o

n
th

6
.

T
h

is
is

b
e

c
a

u
s
e

s
o

m
e

m
is

c
o

d
in

g
s

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

d
is

c
o

v
e

re
d

.
H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
w

o
rk

o
n

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

a
t 

th
e

A
ir

fi
e

ld
is

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
re

a
s
o

n
a

b
ly

w
e

ll.

M
u

s
e

u
m

R
e

d
is

p
la

y
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

8
6

3
-3

-5
0

W
o

rk
a

t 
th

e
m

u
s
e

u
m

is
e

xp
e

c
te

d
 t

o
b

e
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
b

y

th
e

e
n

d
o

f 
th

e
y
e

a
r.

T
o

ta
l

1
3

5
8

9
3

7
-5

2
-5

8

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

B
o

b
b

in
g

w
o

rt
h

T
ip

1
,0

0
0

7
5

0
9

2
4

1
7

4
2

3
T

h
is

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

is
p

ro
g

re
s
s
in

g
a

h
e

a
d

o
f 

ta
rg

e
t

a
n

d
it

is

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t

h
a

t
s
o

m
e

o
f 

th
e

2
0

0
8

/0
9

e
s
ti
m

a
te

w
ill

n
e

e
d

 t
o

b
e

b
ro

u
g

h
t

fo
rw

a
rd

in
to

2
0

0
7

/0
8

.

R
e

fu
s
e

a
n

d
S

tr
e

e
t

C
le

a
n

s
in

g
V

e
h

ic
le

s
8

0
0

8
0

0
8

0
0

0
0

T
h

e
p

u
rc

h
a

s
e

o
f 

th
e

v
e

h
ic

le
s

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

le
a

s
in

g

c
o

m
p

a
n

y
w

a
s

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
in

M
a

y
2

0
0

7

W
h

e
e

le
d

B
in

s
2

0
0

0
0

0
T

h
is

b
u

d
g

e
t

w
a

s
c
a

rr
ie

d
fo

rw
a

rd
fr

o
m

2
0

0
6

/0
7

 t
o

p
u

rc
h

a
s
e

re
c
y
c
lin

g
b

in
s

fo
r

fl
a

ts
a

n
d

o
th

e
r

c
o

m
m

u
n

a
l

b
u

ild
in

g
s
.

T
o

ta
l

1
,8

2
0

1
,5

5
0

1
,7

2
4

1
7

4
1

1

T
h

ir
d

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

0
7

/0
8

B
u

d
g

e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

V
a

ri
a

n
c
e

Page 96



2
0
0
7
/0

8
C

A
P

IT
A

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

P
L
A

N
N

IN
G

A
N

D
E

C
O

N
D

E
V

,
C

IV
IL

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
&

M
A

IN
T

E
N

A
N

C
E

A
N

N
E

X
1
2

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

P
la

n
n

in
g

&
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e
v
't

T
C

E
:
L
o
u
g
h
to

n
H

ig
h

R
o
a
d

W
o
rk

s
5
3

4
0

-5
6

-9
6

0
T

h
e

n
e
g
a
ti
v
e

a
c
tu

a
l
s
p
e
n
d

re
la

te
s
 t
o

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

c
h
a
rg

e
d

to
2
0
0
6
/0

7
.
It

c
o
v
e
rs

a
n

in
v
o
ic

e
w

h
ic

h
h
a
d

b
e
e
n

d
is

p
u
te

d

w
it
h
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

b
u
t 
th

is
h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

a
g
re

e
d

a
n
d

is
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

b
e
in

g
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
d
.

T
C

E
:
L
o
u
g
h
to

n
B

ro
a
d
w

a
y

W
o
rk

s
1
6
5

1
0
3

4
4

-5
9

-5
7

T
h
e

m
a
in

w
o
rk

s
a
re

e
xp

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e

p
la

c
e

in
2
0
0
8
/0

9
,

s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

fi
n
a
lis

in
g

a
n

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t
w

it
h

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
G

ri
d
 G

a
s
.

T
h
e

b
u
lk

o
f 

th
e

b
u
d
g
e
t
p
ro

v
is

io
n

h
a
s

a
lr
e
a
d
y

b
e
e
n

s
lip

p
e
d

in
to

2
0
0
8
/0

9
,
b
u
t 
th

e
re

m
a
y

b
e

m
o
re

s
lip

p
a
g
e
.

P
D

G
C

a
p
it
a
l

S
c
h
e
m

e
7
5

1
9

1
-1

8
0

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n

o
f 

th
e

P
la

n
n
in

g
D

e
le

iv
e
ry

 G
ra

n
t
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
w

a
s

o
n
ly

re
c
e
iv

e
d

re
c
e
n
tl
y
.
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

it
is

e
xp

e
c
te

d
 t
o

b
e

s
p
e
n
t
b
y
 t
h
e

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r

T
o
ta

l
2
9
3

1
6
2

-1
1

-1
7
3

-1
0
7

C
iv

il
E

n
g

in
e
e
ri

n
g

&
M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

C
a
r

P
a
rk

in
g

&
T

ra
ff

ic
S

c
h
e
m

e
s

2
1
9

1
6
5

-5
6

-2
2
1

-1
3
4

T
h
e

n
e
g
a
ti
v
e

s
p
e
n
d

re
la

te
s
 t
o

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

c
h
a
rg

e
d
 t
o

2
0
0
6
/0

7
.
T

h
e

d
is

p
u
te

d
in

v
o
ic

e
w

it
h
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

a
g
re

e
d

a
n
d

is
b
e
in

g
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
d
.
T

h
e

re
m

a
in

in
g

b
u
d
g
e
t
is

s
ti
ll

e
xp

e
c
te

d
 t
o

b
e

s
p
e
n
t 
th

is
y
e
a
r

o
n
c
e

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

s
ig

n
s

o
ff

 t
h
e

w
o
rk

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

o
n
 t
h
e

B
u
c
k
h
u
rs

t
H

ill
p
a
rk

in
g

a
n
d
 t
ra

ff
ic

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
s
c
h
e
m

e
.

O
th

e
r

C
iv

il
E

n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

S
c
h
e
m

e
s

1
5
8

2
6

5
-2

1
-8

1
D

e
liv

e
ry

a
n
d

p
a
y
m

e
n
t
fo

r 
th

e
n
e
w

 t
ra

c
to

r
fo

r
g
ro

u
n
d
s

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

(£
5
3
,0

0
0
)

is
e
xp

e
c
te

d
in

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

2
0
0
8
.

F
lo

o
d

a
lle

v
ia

ti
o
n

w
o
rk

s
a
re

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
t
a
n
d

it
is

lik
e
ly

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

w
ill

b
e

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

in
to

2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

T
o
ta

l
3
7
7

1
9
1

-5
1

-2
4
2

-1
2
7

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

B
u
d
g
e
t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

0
7
/0

8
T

h
ir
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

Page 97



2
0
0
7
/0

8
-

C
A

P
IT

A
L

M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

-
H

O
U

S
IN

G
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

F
U

N
D

A
N

N
E

X
1
3

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

H
o

u
s
in

g
 G

e
n

e
ra

l
F

u
n

d

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t
o

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

H
o
u
s
in

g
1
,2

3
5

7
1
0

7
1
0

0
0
.0

0
A

p
a
y
m

e
n
t
o
f

£
7
1
0
,0

0
0

w
a
s

m
a
d
e
 t
o

L
o
n
d
o
n

a
n
d
 Q

u
a
d
ra

n
t

H
o
u
s
in

g
T

ru
s
t
in

M
a
y

2
0
0
7
 t
o

p
ro

v
id

e
a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in

g
a
t

th
e
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r,

C
h
ip

p
in

g
 O

n
g
a
r.

T
h
is

w
a
s
 t
h
e

s
u
b
je

c
t
o
f

a
re

p
o
rt

to
C

a
b
in

e
t
o
n

1
3

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0
6
.
W

it
h

re
g
a
rd

 t
o
 t
h
e

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o

E
s
tu

a
ry

H
.A

.,
a

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

re
c
e
iv

e
d

w
h
ic

h
in

d
ic

a
te

s
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
ta

lli
n
g

£
1
9
0
,0

0
0

a
re

e
xp

e
c
te

d
 t
o

b
e

m
a
d
e

in
F

e
b
ru

a
ry

a
n
d

M
a
rc

h

th
is

y
e
a
r.

A
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

o
f

£
3
1
0
,0

0
0

is
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

lik
e
ly

,

w
h
ic

h
w

o
u
ld

in
c
re

a
s
e

n
e
xt

y
e
a
rs

b
u
d
g
e
t 
to

£
8
1
0
,0

0
0
.

D
is

a
b
le

d
F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 G

ra
n
ts

5
0
0

3
7
5

1
9
4

-1
8
1

-4
8

E
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

a
t

m
o
n
th

9
is

lo
w

b
e
c
a
u
s
e

th
e
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a

d
e
c
re

a
s
e

in
th

e
n
u
m

b
e
r

a
n
d

s
iz

e
o
f

g
ra

n
ts

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

th
is

y
e
a
r.

P
re

d
ic

ti
n
g

g
ra

n
t

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

is
a

v
e
ry

in
e
xa

c
t

s
c
ie

n
c
e

b
u
t,

ta
k
in

g
g
e
n
e
ra

l
tr

e
n
d
s

a
n
d

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
in

to
a
c
c
o
u
n
t,

it
is

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
th

a
t

D
F

G
s

w
ill

b
e

in
th

e
o
rd

e
r

o
f

£
4
0
0
,0

0
0
,

re
q
u
ir
in

g
a

£
1
0
0
,0

0
0

c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

.

O
th

e
r

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r 
G

ra
n
ts

2
7
5

1
8
3

5
7

-1
2
6

-6
9

T
h
e

n
e
w

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r 
G

ra
n
ts

p
o
lic

y
w

a
s

u
p

a
n
d

ru
n
n
in

g

fr
o
m

J
u
n
e

2
0
0
7
.
T

h
e
 t
a
k
e

u
p

o
f

n
e
w

g
ra

n
ts

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

s
lo

w
e
r

th
a
n

e
xp

e
c
te

d
b
u
t
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

a
n
d

e
xp

e
n
d
ti
u
re

h
a
v
e

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

y
e
a
r.

It
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d

th
a
t
e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

w
ill

 t
o
ta

l
u
p
 t
o

£
2
2
0
,0

0
0

b
y
 t
h
e

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

T
h
is

is
b
a
s
e
d

o
n

a
p
p
ro

v
a
ls

 t
o

3
0

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

2
0
0
7
,
a
s
s
u
m

in
g

a
le

a
d
-i
n

p
e
ri
o
d

o
f

s
ix

m
o
n
th

s
,
a
n
d

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

 t
re

n
d
s

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t
o

ri
s
e

in
J
a
n
u
a
ry

2
0
0
8
.
T

h
is

w
o
u
ld

re
q
u
ir
e

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

o
f

a
t
le

a
s
t
£
5
5
,0

0
0
.

O
th

e
r

H
o
u
s
in

g
 G

e
n
e
ra

l
F

u
n
d

S
c
h
e
m

e
s

3
8
7

1
8

3
-1

5
-8

3
T

h
e

m
a
jo

ri
ty

o
f 

th
is

b
u
d
g
e
t
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h
e

c
o
m

p
u
ls

o
ry

p
u
rc

h
a
s
e

o
f

8
/8

a
S

u
n

S
tr

e
e
t,

W
a
lt
h
a
m

A
b
b
e
y
.
It

is
h
o
p
e
d
 t
h
a
t

th
e

a
q
u
is

it
io

n
,
e
s
tm

a
te

d
a
t
£
3
5
0
,0

0
0

w
ill

 t
a
k
e

p
la

c
e

a
t 
th

e
e
n
d

o
f 

th
is

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r

b
u
t
it

m
a
y

h
a
v
e
 t
o

b
e

d
e
la

y
e
d

u
n
ti
l

2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

T
o
ta

l
2
,3

9
7

1
,2

8
6

9
6
4

-3
2
2

-2
5

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

T
h
ir
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t
v

A
c
tu

a
l

Page 98



2
0
0
7
/0

8
C

A
P

IT
A

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

H
O

U
S

IN
G

R
E

V
E

N
U

E
A

C
C

O
U

N
T

A
N

N
E

X
1
4

0
7
/0

8
C

o
m

m
e
n
ts

F
u
ll

Y
e
a
r

0
7
/0

8
0
7
/0

8

B
u
d
g
e
t

B
u
d
g
e
t

A
c
tu

a
l

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%

H
o

u
s
in

g
R

e
v
e
n

u
e

A
c
c
o

u
n

t

S
p
ri

n
g
fi
e
ld

s
,

W
a
lt
h
a
m

A
b
b
e
y

6
1
7

4
6
3

2
6
3

-2
0
0

-4
3

T
h
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

s
ta

rt
d
a
te

w
a
s

a
g
re

e
d

a
h
e
a
d

o
f

e
x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s

a
n
d

th
e

c
a
s
h
fl
o
w

re
c
e
iv

e
d

in
O

c
to

b
e
r

2
0
0
7

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
th

e
v
a
lu

e
o
f

w
o
rk

s
to

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

b
y

th
e

y
e
a
r

e
n
d

to
b
e

£
1
,4

8
1
,0

0
0
,

e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
fe

e
s
.

A
c
tu

a
l

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
s

to
d
a
te

h
a
v
e
,

h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

b
e
e
n

lo
w

e
r

th
a
n

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
a
n
d

w
e

a
re

a
w

a
it
in

g
a

re
v
is

e
d

c
a
s
h
fl
o
w

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t

fr
o
m

th
e

Q
S

.
T

h
is

w
il
l

b
e

re
p
o
rt

e
d

o
ra

ll
y

a
t

th
e

m
e
e
ti
n
g
.

In
a
n
y

e
v
e
n
t,

it
is

li
k
e
ly

th
a
t

s
o
m

e
o
f

th
e

2
0
0
8
/0

9
w

il
l

n
e
e
d
 t

o
b
e

b
ro

u
g
h
t 

fo
rw

a
rd

in
to

2
0
0
7
/0

8
.

H
e
a
ti
n
g
/R

e
w

ir
in

g
1
,0

6
3

7
9
7

8
1
0

1
3

2
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

o
n

h
e
a
ti
n
g

u
p
g
ra

d
e
s

is
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
a
h
e
a
d

o
f

e
x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s
.

In
c
o
n
tr

a
s
t,

re
w

ir
in

g
c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

a
re

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
t

a
t

m
o
n
th

9
,

b
u
t

it
is

th
o
u
g
h
t

th
a
t

th
e

fu
ll

e
s
ti
m

a
te

w
il
l

b
e

s
p
e
n
t

b
y

th
e

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

W
in

d
o
w

s
/R

o
o
fi
n
g
 /

 

A
s
b
e
s
to

s
 /

 W
a
te

r
T

a
n
k
s

7
4
4

4
6
8

3
2
1

-1
4
7

-3
1

A
c
tu

a
l
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

o
n

P
V

C
U

w
in

d
o
w

s
w

a
s

a
h
e
a
d

o
f

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

b
y

th
e

e
n
d

o
f

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0
7
.

C
o
n
v
e
rs

e
ly

,
ro

o
fi
n
g

c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

,

a
s
b
e
s
to

s
w

o
rk

s
a
n
d

th
e

re
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

o
f

w
a
te

r
ta

n
k
s

a
re

b
e
h
in

d

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

th
e
re

is
li
k
e
ly

to
b
e

s
li
p
p
a
g
e

o
f

a
ro

u
n
d

£
1
0
0
,0

0
0

re
lt
in

g
in

 t
h
e

m
a
in

 t
o

ro
o
fi
n
g

w
o
rk

s
.

O
th

e
r

P
la

n
n
e
d

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

5
3
3

3
7
7

2
3
0

-1
4
7

-3
9

T
h
e

m
a
in

v
a
ri

a
ti
o
n
s

h
e
re

re
la

te
p
ri

m
a
ri

ly
 t

o
e
n
e
rg

y
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

w
o
rk

s
;

B
ri

ti
s
h
 G

a
s

in
v
o
ic

e
 t

h
e

a
u
th

o
ri

ty
 f

o
r 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il
's

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f 

th
e

c
o
s
ts

a
n
d

b
il
li
n
g

is
la

g
g
in

g
b
e
h
in

d

e
x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s
.

O
th

e
r

C
a
p
it
a
l
W

o
rk

s
3
,1

8
2

2
,3

1
4

1
,6

3
3

-6
8
1

-2
9

T
h
e

b
u
d
g
e
t

fo
r

k
it
c
h
e
n

&
b
a
th

ro
o
m

re
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y

th
is

y
e
a
r

a
n
d

th
e
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
n

a
c
c
e
le

ra
ti
o
n

o
f

th
e

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
in

th
e

s
e
c
o
n
d

h
a
lf

o
f

th
e

y
e
a
r.

A
t

m
o
n
th

9
th

e
re

a
re

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s

a
c
ro

s
s

a
ll

c
a
te

g
o
ri

e
s

o
f

w
o
rk

in

th
is

a
re

a
,

in
c
lu

d
in

g
th

e
k
it
c
h
e
n

a
n
d

b
a
th

ro
o
m

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

it
is

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
th

a
t

m
u
c
h

o
f

th
e

w
o
rk

p
la

n
n
e
d

w
il
l

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

b
y

th
e

e
n
d

o
f

th
e

y
e
a
r

a
n
d

th
e

a
m

o
u
n
t

re
q
u
ir

e
d

a
s

a

c
a
rr

y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

is
e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 t

o
b
e

in
 t

h
e

o
rd

e
r

o
f

£
1
6
5
,0

0
0
.

T
o
ta

l
6
,1

3
9

4
,4

1
9

3
,2

5
7

-1
,1

6
2

-2
6

T
h
ir

d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r

0
7
/0

8

V
a
ri

a
n
c
e

B
u
d
g
e
t

v
A

c
tu

a
l

Page 99



2
0
0
7
/0

8
C

A
P

IT
A

L
M

O
N

IT
O

R
IN

G
-

M
A

J
O

R
S

C
H

E
M

E
S

A
N

N
E

X
1
5

C
a
p

it
a
l
P

ro
je

c
t

O
ri

g
in

a
l

S
ta

rt
D

a
te

L
a
te

s
t

E
s
t/

A
c
tu

a
l

S
ta

rt
D

a
te

O
ri

g
in

a
l

F
in

is
h

D
a
te

L
a
te

s
t

E
s
t/

A
c
tu

a
l

F
in

is
h

D
a
te

O
ri

g
in

a
l

T
o

ta
l
P

ro
je

c
t

C
o

s
t

L
a
te

s
t

T
o

ta
l
P

ro
je

c
t

C
o

s
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

A
c
tu

a
l
E

x
p

T
o

D
a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

%
£
'0

0
0

B
o

b
b

in
g

w
o

rt
h

T
ip

M
a
y
-0

5
M

a
r-

0
7

N
o
v
-0

5
O

c
t-

0
8

1
,1

0
7

2
,3

8
0

1
1
5
%

1
,6

2
2

L
o

u
g

h
to

n
H

ig
h

R
o

a
d

T
o

w
n

C
e
n

tr
e

E
n

h
a
n

c
e
m

e
n

t
J
u
l-
0
5

A
u
g
-0

5
M

a
r-

0
6

M
a
y
-0

6
9
9
6

1
,5

7
4

5
8
%

1
,4

6
5

L
o

u
g

h
to

n
B

ro
a
d

w
a
y

T
o

w
n

C
e
n

tr
e

E
n

h
a
n

c
e
m

e
n

t
J
u
l-
0
6

O
c
t-

0
6

O
c
t-

0
6

D
e
c
-0

6
3
,0

0
3

3
,1

7
5

6
%

1
,0

5
5

C
u

s
to

m
e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

T
ra

n
s
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
n
/a

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a

2
,5

0
0

2
,5

0
0

n
/a

0

S
p

ri
n

g
fi

e
ld

s
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t

S
c
h

e
m

e
W

o
rk

s
(H

R
A

)
J
u
l-
0
4

N
o
v
-0

7
F

e
b
-0

6
J
a
n
-0

9
4
,0

3
3

4
,1

2
4

2
%

5
2
3

A
ll 

th
e

re
p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
s

o
f

le
a
s
h
o
ld

fl
a
ts

h
a
v
e

n
o
w

o
c
c
u
rr

e
d

a
t
a

fi
n
a
l
c
o
s
t
o
f

£
6
8
6
,0

0
0
,
w

it
h

o
n
ly

o
n
e

le
a
s
h
o
ld

e
r

o
p
ti
n
g
 t
o

re
m

a
in

a
s

s
u
c
h
.
T

h
e
s
e

c
o
s
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

e
xc

lu
d
e
d

fr
o
m

 t
h
e

a
b
o
v
e

fi
g
u
re

s
.

C
a
b
in

e
t
o
n

1
6

J
u
ly

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 t
h
e
 t
e
n
d
e
r

o
f

A
p
o
llo

L
o
n
d
o
n
 t
o

c
a
rr

y
o
u
t 
th

e
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
s
c
h
e
m

e
.
T

h
e

H
e
a
d

o
f

H
o
u
s
in

g
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

w
a
s

a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 t
o

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

s
u
m

b
a
s
e
d

o
n

a
s
h
o
rt

e
r

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t
p
e
ri
o
d

h
o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
is

o
p
ti
o
n

w
a
s

re
je

c
te

d
.
T

h
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t
s
ta

rt
e
d

in
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0
7

a
n
d

h
a
s

a
n

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
fi
n
is

h
d
a
te

o
f

J
a
n
u
a
ry

2
0
0
9
.

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

a
c
ti
v
it
y

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d

o
n

1
9

M
a
rc

h
2
0
0
7
,
a
lm

o
s
t
n
in

e
m

o
n
th

s
la

te
r 

th
a
n

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

p
la

n
n
e
d
.
D

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e

d
e
la

y
, 
th

ir
d

p
a
rt

y
 t
e
n
d
e
rs

h
a
d
 t
o

b
e

re
-t

e
n
d
e
re

d

a
n
d

c
o
s
ts

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y

ro
s
e
.
P

o
o
r

w
e
a
th

e
r

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s

h
a
s

a
ls

o
a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e

d
e
la

y
s
.
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e

p
ro

je
c
t
is

n
o
w

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
w

e
ll

a
n
d

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

is
a
h
e
a
d

o
f 

th
e

re
v
is

e
d
 t
a
rg

e
t
s
p
e
n
d

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
.
A

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta

l
p
ro

je
c
t
c
o
s
t
s
h
o
w

n
a
b
o
v
e

a
p
p
e
a
rs

 t
o

h
a
v
e

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
lly

o
v
e
r 

th
e

o
ri
g
in

a
l
c
o
s
t,

it
m

u
s
t
b
e

n
o
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e

o
ri
g
in

a
l
p
ro

je
c
t
c
o
s
t
fi
g
u
re

re
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e

o
ri
g
in

a
l
s
c
h
e
m

e
w

h
ic

h
w

a
s

s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
lly

d
if
fe

re
n
t 
to

 t
h
e

s
c
h
e
m

e
 t
h
a
t
is

n
o
w

b
e
in

g
p
u
rs

u
e
d
.

T
h
e

s
e
c
o
n
d

p
h
a
s
e

o
f 

th
e

L
o
u
g
h
to

n
H

ig
h

R
o
a
d

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
E

n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
t
s
c
h
e
m

e
is

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
a
n
d
 t
h
e

fi
n
a
l
a
c
c
o
u
n
t
is

n
e
a
ri
n
g

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
.
T

h
e

fi
n
a
l
p
o
s
it
io

n
is

e
xp

e
c
te

d
 t
o

b
e

m
o
re

o
r

le
s
s

in
lin

e
w

it
h
 t
h
e

b
u
d
g
e
t.
 O

n
c
e

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

h
a
v
e

a
d
o
p
te

d
 t
h
e

w
o
rk

,
a
n

e
n
d

o
f

s
c
h
e
m

e
re

p
o
rt

w
ill

b
e

p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 t
o

C
a
b
in

e
t.

T
h
is

s
c
h
e
m

e
h
a
s

e
n
c
o
u
n
te

re
d

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

u
n
fo

rs
e
e
n

p
ro

b
le

m
s

d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e

lo
c
a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

d
e
p
th

o
f 

th
e

g
a
s

m
a
in

a
n
d
 t
h
is

c
o
u
n
c
il

is
s
ti
ll

e
n
d
e
a
v
o
u
ri
n
g
 t
o

re
a
c
h

a
n

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t
a
n
d

m
e
th

o
d
o
lo

g
y

w
it
h

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
G

ri
d
 G

a
s
.
P

h
a
s
e

2
o
f 

th
e

s
c
h
e
m

e
is

p
la

n
n
e
d
 t
o

s
ta

rt
in

M
a
y

2
0
0
8
,
s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

C
a
b
in

e
t
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l.

A
n

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n

s
ti
ll

e
xi

s
ts

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

c
a
p
it
a
l
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r 
th

is
,
h
o
w

e
v
e
r

a
t 
th

is
s
ta

g
e

it
is

u
n
lik

e
ly

 t
h
a
t 
th

is
s
c
h
e
m

e
w

ill
p
ro

c
e
e
d

in
 t
h
e

n
e
a
r

fu
tu

re
.

Page 100



Report to: Finance and Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 11 February 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
Portfolio:  Finance, Performance Management and Corporate Support Services (Councillor 
C. Whitbread) 
 
Subject: National Outcome and Indicator Set  
 
Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (Ext 4180) 
 
Committee Secretary:  A. Hendry (Ext 4246) 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 

 
That the Scrutiny Panel note details of the new National Outcome and Indicator Set to 
be introduced from April 2008, and the review currently being undertaken  into the 
continued monitoring of appropriate existing Best Value and Local Performance 
Indicators. 

 
Report: 
 
Background 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) At its meeting in November 2007, the Scrutiny Panel was 
advised of the publication by the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG), of a new ‘national indicator set’ to replace all other suites of performance indicators, 
including Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs), with effect from April 2008. This report 
sets out details of the new National Outcome and Indicator Set, and a review currently being 
undertaken of all existing BVPIs and Local Performance Indicators (LPIs). 
 
2. In 2007 the White Paper ‘Strong and Prosperous Communities’ outlined a new 
performance framework for local government, aimed at:  

 
• reducing the burden on local authorities to collect performance information, by 

imposing fewer indicators centrally;  
 
• local authorities setting their own priorities, determining performance 

measurement, and monitoring performance through partnership working, thereby 
focusing on and responding to local priorities; and 

 
• devolving power to local authorities and their partners by making them 

accountable for all delivery of service to their citizens. 
 
3. The new local performance framework aims to reform the way in which public 
services are delivered, within the health, welfare, housing, employment, education, 
communities, economic development, policing and community safety, and environment 
sectors. It is designed to help the Government to focus on its priorities in a coordinated way 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 101



and to transfer power to local authorities and communities to help them to respond to local 
priorities, resulting in the better provision of public services and improvement of the local 
quality of life. The new local performance framework is focused on outcomes and delivery 
through improved partnership working, to encourage choice, influence and user involvement 
in the design of public services. 
 
4. The new performance framework brings together national standards and priorities set 
by the Government with local priorities informed by the vision developed by local authorities 
and partners, through a set of national outcomes and a single set of national performance 
indicators. These indicators flow from the priorities identified in Public Service Agreements 
and the Government’s Departmental Strategic Objectives announced in the Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) for 2007, and cover the Government’s priorities for delivery by local 
government working on its own or in partnership with other bodies. The outcomes measured 
and the indicators themselves provide a clear statement of Government’s priorities for 
delivery by local government and its partners over the next three years, and will be the only 
indicators on which central government will be able to set performance targets for local 
government. 
 
5. As the Scrutiny Panel is aware, the existing statutory requirement to collect outturn 
information on BVPIs is to cease at the end of 2007/08, and the new National Indicator (NI) 
set will be introduced from 1 April 2008. As a result, local authorities will need to put 
mechanisms and processes in place in order to calculate and collect a range of new 
performance information. 
 
The New National Indicator Set 
 
6. Full details of the new NI set are attached as Appendix 1 to this report. The NIs cover 
services delivered both alone and in partnership, encouraging local authorities and their 
partners to work together to deliver improved outcomes. The indicators that measure 
outcomes which require joint-working by local partners also appear in the performance 
frameworks for each of those partners (e.g. the national indicators for community safety are 
also used in the assessment of policing and community safety). Performance targets for 
some of the NIs will be negotiated through new Local Area Agreements (LAA), and Local 
Strategic Partnerships (LSP) at the single tier or county council level will agree up to 35 
targets from among the NIs with the Government, complemented by statutory targets on 
educational attainment, for inclusion in the new LAA. The new NIs are grouped into four 
themes: 
 

• Stronger and Safer Communities; 
• Children and Young People (the Council has no NIs under this theme);  
• Adult Health and Wellbeing and Tackling Exclusion and Promoting Equality; and 
• Local Economy and Environmental Sustainability. 

 
7. The full NI set detailed in Appendix 1 indicates which of the new NIs apply to the 
Council with regard to collection and reporting responsibility (shaded grey), and also 
highlights those NIs which have not been collected before and are therefore entirely new. 
Several of the new NIs are proposed to be collected through bi-annual public consultation 
exercises (‘Place Survey’ indicators), replacing the existing three-yearly BVPI satisfaction 
surveys, that will need to be undertaken in liaison with the Epping Forest LSP. 
 
8. There are a significant number of NIs which have not been set before and therefore 
have no evidence basis from which to collect information or base performance targets. The 
onus is on local authorities and their partners to find and use evidence to support 
negotiations on any targets for these new indicators. Although presently set at the district 
spatial level, some of the new indicators (shaded grey) are likely to be the responsibility of 
other bodies, but this has yet confirmed by DCLG.  
 

Page 102



Best Value/Local Performance Indicators - Action Required 
 
9. The introduction of the new NI set has provided an opportunity for a thorough review 
to be undertaken of the Council’s current suite of statutory BVPIs and locally determined 
LPIs. All service directors have accordingly commenced a review of the current BVPI and LPI 
sets, with a view to the possible adoption of some existing BVPIs as LPIs from 2008/09 
onwards, where these continue to reflect local priorities but have not been brought forward 
into the new NI set. As the Scrutiny Panel will be aware, a range of asset management 
related LPIs have recently been adopted as a result of recommendations made by the Audit 
Commission through the annual Use of Resources assessment.  
 
10. It is possible that this exercise will result in some existing indicators being deleted as 
corporate performance measures, and where indicators are still considered to be useful, 
these being moved into the relevant Business Plans for 2008/09. The results of this BVPI/LPI 
indicator review and the adoption of a new suite of LPIs will be considered by the Cabinet at 
its meeting on 10 March 2007, and at an additional meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to be held 
before the end of the current municipal year. Any initial proposals of the Panel in respect of 
the continued monitoring of existing BVPIs and LPIs would be welcomed. 
 
Comprehensive Area Assessment 
 
11. The new Local Performance Framework sets out the criteria for the Comprehensive 
Area Assessment (CAA). The CAA has four key components, one of which is performance 
against the NI set (others include judgements on performance and future prospects). The 
CAA will inform the annual review of LAAs led by the Government Offices, and it is therefore 
imperative to start the collection of the NI measurements from April 2008. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
12. To advise the Scrutiny Panel of revised statutory performance monitoring 
requirements and to enable members to contribute to the review of the current BVPI and LPI 
sets, with a view to the possible adoption of some existing BVPIs as LPIs for 2008/09 
onwards. 
 
Options considered and rejected: 
 
13. None. The Council is statutorily required to collect and report performance against 
relevant BVPIs and NIs. 
 
Consultation undertaken: 
 
14. All directors are contributing to the review of the current BVPI and LPI sets. The new 
National Outcome and Indicator Set has been reviewed by the Corporate Executive Forum 
and Management Board, and will be considered by the Cabinet in March 2008.  
 
Resource implications:  
 
Budget/Personnel Provision: The collation and reporting of performance information arising 
from the new NI set will be met from within existing Performance Management Unit resources 
Land: Nil 
Council Plan/BVPP Reference: Council Plan Section 8 – ‘How We Measure Our 
Achievements’. 
Relevant Statutory Powers: Local Government Act 1999 
Background Papers: None 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: Nil 
Key Decision Reference (if required): None 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
S

P
A

T
IA

L
 L

E
V

E
L

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

B
V

P
I/
L

P
I

R
E

F

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

w
h
o

b
e
lie

ve
p
e
o
p
le

fr
o
m

d
if
fe

re
n
t
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s

g
e
t
o
n

w
e
ll

to
g
e
th

e
r

in
 t
h
e
ir

lo
c
a
l
a
re

a

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

w
h
o

fe
e
l 
th

a
t 
th

e
y

b
e
lo

n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

C
iv

ic
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
 t
h
e

lo
c
a
l
a
re

a
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

w
h
o

fe
e
l 
th

e
y

c
a
n

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e

d
e
c
is

io
n
s

in
 t
h
e
ir

lo
c
a
lit

y
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

O
ve

ra
ll/

g
e
n
e
ra

l
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

lo
c
a
l
a
re

a
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
re

g
u
la

r
vo

lu
n
te

e
ri
n
g

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

E
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
t
fo

r
a
 t
h
ri
vi

n
g
 t
h
ir
d

s
e
c
to

r
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
d
u
lt

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
s
p
o
rt

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

U
s
e

o
f

p
u
b
lic

lib
ra

ri
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

V
is

it
s
 t
o

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
o
r

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
in

 t
h
e

a
rt

s
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

R
e
fu

s
e
d

a
n
d

d
e
fe

rr
e
d

H
o
u
s
e
s

in
M

u
lt
ip

le
O

c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n

(H
M

O
)

lic
e
n
s
e

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

le
a
d
in

g

to
im

m
ig

ra
ti
o
n

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t
a
c
ti
vi

ty

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

M
ig

ra
n
ts

E
n
g
lis

h
la

n
g
u
a
g
e

s
k
ill

s
a
n
d

k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
vo

id
a
b
le

c
o
n
ta

c
t:

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r,

o
f

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

c
o
n
ta

c
ts

p
e
r

re
c
e
iv

e
d

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

re
q
u
e
s
t

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

S
e
ri
o
u
s

vi
o
le

n
t
c
ri
m

e
ra

te
C

ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

B
V

1
2
7
a

S
e
ri
o
u
s

a
c
q
u
is

it
iv

e
c
ri
m

e
ra

te
P

S
A

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

B
V

1
2
7
b

Na
tio

na
lO

ut
co

m
e

an
d

In
di

ca
to

r
Se

t

N
I
R

E
F

:
R

E
P

O
R

T
IN

G

O
R

G
A

N
IS

A
T

IO
N

S
tr

o
n

g
e
r

a
n

d
S

a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

T
h
ir
d

S
e
c
to

r
O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

S
p
o
rt

E
n
g
la

n
d

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

D
e
liv

e
ry

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

N
I
1
3

N
I
1
4

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
I 
1

N
I 
2

N
I 
3

N
I 
4

N
I 
5

N
I 
6

N
I 
7

N
I 
8

N
I 
9

N
I
1
0

N
I
1
1

N
I
1
2

N
I
1
5

N
I
1
6

Page 105



P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

o
f

a
n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

A
d
u
lt

re
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
ra

te
s

fo
r 

th
o
s
e

u
n
d
e
r

p
ro

b
a
ti
o
n

s
u
p
e
rv

is
io

n
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

R
a
te

o
f

p
ro

ve
n

re
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
b
y

yo
u
n
g

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
s
s
a
u
lt

w
it
h

in
ju

ry
c
ri
m

e
ra

te
C

ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

D
e
a
lin

g
w

it
h

lo
c
a
l
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
a
b
o
u
t
a
n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

a
n
d

c
ri
m

e
b
y 

th
e

lo
c
a
l
c
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

p
o
lic

e

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

o
f

p
a
re

n
ts

 t
a
k
in

g
re

s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

fo
r 

th
e

b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

o
f 

th
e
ir
c
h
ild

re
n

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t
p
e
o
p
le

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
 t
re

a
t
o
n
e

a
n
o
th

e
r

w
it
h

re
s
p
e
c
t
a
n
d

d
ig

n
it
y

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
it
h
 t
h
e

w
a
y 

th
e

p
o
lic

e
a
n
d

lo
c
a
l
c
o
u
n
c
il

d
e
a
lt

w
it
h

a
n
ti
s
o
c
ia

l
b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

N
/A

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

o
f

d
if
fe

re
n
t
g
ro

u
p
s

w
it
h
 t
h
e

w
a
y 

th
e

p
o
lic

e
a
n
d

lo
c
a
l
c
o
u
n
c
il

d
e
a
lt

w
it
h

a
n
ti
-

s
o
c
ia

l
b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

N
/A

S
p
e
c
ia

lis
t
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o

vi
c
ti
m

s
o
f

a
s
e
ri
o
u
s

s
e
xu

a
l
o
ff

e
n
c
e

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
o
f

lo
c
a
l
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
a
b
o
u
t
a
n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

a
n
d

c
ri
m

e
b
y 

th
e

lo
c
a
l
c
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

p
o
lic

e

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

S
e
ri
o
u
s

k
n
if
e

c
ri
m

e
ra

te
C

ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

G
u
n

c
ri
m

e
ra

te
C

ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

R
e
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
ra

te
o
f

p
ro

lif
ic

a
n
d

p
ri
o
ri
ty

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

R
e
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
ra

te
o
f

re
g
is

te
re

d
s
e
x

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

P
o
lic

e
 F

o
rc

e
A

re
a

N
/A

R
e
p
e
a
t
in

c
id

e
n
ts

o
f

d
o
m

e
s
ti
c

vi
o
le

n
c
e

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

A
rs

o
n

in
c
id

e
n
ts

F
ir
e

a
n
d

R
e
s
c
u
e

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

A
re

a
N

/A

D
o
m

e
s
ti
c

vi
o
le

n
c
e

–
m

u
rd

e
r

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
O

ff
e
n
d
e
r

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
.
P

o
s
s
ib

ly

E
F

D
C

/E
s
s
e
x

P
o
lic

e
N

E
W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

P
o
lic

e
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

V
io

le
n
t
S

e
x

O
ff

e
n
d
e
r

R
e
g
is

te
r

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

E
s
s
e
x 

F
ir
e

a
n
d

R
e
s
c
u
e

S
e
rv

ic
e

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
I
1
7

N
I
1
8

N
I
1
9

N
I
2
0

N
I
2
1

N
I
2
2

N
I
2
3

N
I
2
4

N
I
2
5

N
I
2
6

N
I
2
7

N
I
2
8

N
I
2
9

N
I
3
0

N
I
3
1

N
I
3
2

N
I
3
3

N
I
3
4

Page 106



B
u
ild

in
g

re
s
ili

e
n
c
e
 t
o

vi
o
le

n
t
e
xt

re
m

is
m

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

a
g
a
in

s
t 
te

rr
o
ri
s
t
a
tt
a
c
k

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

A
re

a

N
/A

A
w

a
re

n
e
s
s

o
f

c
iv

il
p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

in
 t
h
e

lo
c
a
l
a
re

a
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

D
ru

g
-r

e
la

te
d

(C
la

s
s

A
)

o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
ra

te
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
lc

o
h
o
l-
h
a
rm

re
la

te
d

h
o
s
p
it
a
l
a
d
m

is
s
io

n
ra

te
s

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

D
ru

g
u
s
e
rs

in
e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t

D
ru

g
A

c
ti
o
n

T
e
a
m

a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

o
f

d
ru

n
k

o
r

ro
w

d
y

b
e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

a
s

a
p
ro

b
le

m
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

o
f

d
ru

g
u
s
e

o
r

d
ru

g
d
e
a
lin

g
a
s

a
p
ro

b
le

m
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

Y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

Y
o
u
th

J
u
s
ti
c
e

S
ys

te
m

re
c
e
iv

in
g

a
c
o
n
vi

c
ti
o
n

in
c
o
u
rt

w
h
o

a
re

s
e
n
te

n
c
e
d
 t
o

c
u
s
to

d
y

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
th

n
ic

c
o
m

p
o
s
it
io

n
o
f

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

o
n

Y
o
u
th

J
u
s
ti
c
e

S
ys

te
m

d
is

p
o
s
a
ls

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

Y
o
u
n
g

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
in

s
u
it
a
b
le

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
,
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t
o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

Y
o
u
n
g

o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

s
u
it
a
b
le

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
e
o
p
le

k
ill

e
d

o
r

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly

in
ju

re
d

in
ro

a
d
 t
ra

ff
ic

a
c
c
id

e
n
ts

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

k
ill

e
d

o
r

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly

in
ju

re
d

in
ro

a
d
 t
ra

ff
ic

a
c
c
id

e
n
ts

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
ri
m

a
ry

fi
re

s
a
n
d

re
la

te
d

fa
ta

lit
ie

s
a
n
d

n
o
n
-f

a
ta

l
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie

s
,
e
xc

lu
d
in

g

p
re

c
a
u
ti
o
n
a
ry

c
h
e
c
k
s

F
ir
e

a
n
d

R
e
s
c
u
e

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

A
re

a
N

/A

E
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l
h
e
a
lt
h

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e
s
s

o
f

c
h
ild

a
n
d

a
d
o
le

s
c
e
n
t
m

e
n
ta

l
h
e
a
lt
h

(C
A

M
H

s
)

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
a
k
e

u
p

o
f

s
c
h
o
o
l
lu

n
c
h
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
lig

ib
le

d
is

tr
ic

t
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

o
n
ly

(p
ro

b
a
b
a
ly

n
o
t
E

F
D

C
)

E
s
s
e
x

P
o
lic

e

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

D
ru

g
A

c
ti
o
n

T
e
a
m

H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

T
ru

s
t

D
ru

g
A

c
ti
o
n

T
e
a
m

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x 

F
ir
e

a
n
d

R
e
s
c
u
e

S
e
rv

ic
e

N
I
4
7

N
I
4
8

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

N
I
4
9

O
fs

te
d

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
ts

S
c
h
o
o
l 
F

o
o
d

T
ru

s
t

N
I
5
0

N
I
5
1

N
I
5
2

C
h

il
d

re
n

a
n

d
Y

o
u

n
g

P
e
o

p
le

N
I
3
5

N
I
3
6

N
I
3
7

N
I
3
8

N
I
3
9

N
I
4
0

N
I
4
1

N
I
4
2

N
I
4
3

N
I
4
4

N
I
4
5

N
I
4
6

Page 107



P
re

va
le

n
c
e

o
f

b
re

a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
a
t
6
–
8

w
e
e
k
s

fr
o
m

b
ir
th

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

fo
r

d
is

a
b
le

d
c
h
ild

re
n

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

O
b
e
s
it
y

a
m

o
n
g

p
ri
m

a
ry

s
c
h
o
o
l
a
g
e

c
h
ild

re
n

in
R

e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

Y
e
a
r

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
A

re
a

N
/A

O
b
e
s
it
y

a
m

o
n
g

p
ri
m

a
ry

s
c
h
o
o
l
a
g
e

c
h
ild

re
n

in
Y

e
a
r

6
P

ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

a
n
d

yo
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

’s
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
h
ig

h
-q

u
a
lit

y
P

E
a
n
d

s
p
o
rt

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l
a
n
d

b
e
h
a
vi

o
ra

l
h
e
a
lt
h

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

In
it
ia

l
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
w

it
h
in

7
w

o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

o
f

re
fe

rr
a
l

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
o
re

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

 t
h
a
t
w

e
re

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
w

it
h
in

3
5

w
o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

o
f

th
e
ir

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
ta

b
ili

ty
o
f

lo
o
k
e
d

a
ft

e
r

c
h
ild

re
n

a
d
o
p
te

d
fo

llo
w

in
g

a
n

a
g
e
n
c
y

d
e
c
is

io
n
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
c
h
ild

s
h
o
u
ld

b
e

p
la

c
e
d

fo
r

a
d
o
p
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
ta

b
ili

ty
o
f

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

o
f

lo
o
k
e
d

a
ft

e
r

c
h
ild

re
n
:
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

m
o
ve

s
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
ta

b
ili

ty
o
f

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

o
f

lo
o
k
e
d

a
ft

e
r

c
h
ild

re
n
:
le

n
g
th

o
f

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
s

la
s
ti
n
g

2
ye

a
rs

o
r

m
o
re

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

b
e
c
o
m

in
g
 t
h
e

s
u
b
je

c
t
o
f

a
C

h
ild

P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
fo

r
a

s
e
c
o
n
d

o
r

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
ti
m

e
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

L
o
o
k
e
d

a
ft

e
r

c
h
ild

re
n

c
a
s
e
s

w
h
ic

h
w

e
re

re
vi

e
w

e
d

w
it
h
in

re
q
u
ir
e
d
ti
m

e
s
c
a
le

s
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

c
a
s
e
s

w
h
ic

h
w

e
re

re
vi

e
w

e
d

w
it
h
in

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

 t
o

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

g
o
in

g
o
n
 t
o

in
it
ia

l
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

w
h
o

h
a
ve

e
xp

e
ri
e
n
c
e
d

b
u
lly

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

H
o
s
p
it
a
l
a
d
m

is
s
io

n
s

c
a
u
s
e
d

b
y

u
n
in

te
n
ti
o
n
a
l
a
n
d

d
e
lib

e
ra

te
in

ju
ri
e
s
 t
o

c
h
ild

re
n

a
n
d

yo
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

w
h
o

h
a
ve

ru
n

a
w

a
y

fr
o
m

h
o
m

e
/c

a
re

o
ve

rn
ig

h
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
t
le

a
s
t
7
8

p
o
in

ts
a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e

E
a
rl
y

Y
e
a
rs

 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n

S
ta

g
e

w
it
h

a
t
le

a
s
t
6

in
e
a
c
h

o
f 

th
e

s
c
a
le

s
in

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l
S

o
c
ia

l
a
n
d

E
m

o
ti
o
n
a
lD

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t
a
n
d

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
,

L
a
n
g
u
a
g
e

a
n
d

L
it
e
ra

c
y

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
7
2

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

N
I
5
8

N
I
5
9

N
I
5
7

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

O
fs

te
d

H
o
s
p
it
a
l
T

ru
s
t

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

E
s
s
e
x

P
o
lic

e

N
I
5
3

N
I
5
4

N
I
5
5

N
I
5
6

N
I
6
0

N
I
6
1

N
I
6
2

N
I
6
3

N
I
6
4

N
I
6
5

N
I
6
6

N
I
6
7

N
I
6
8

N
I
6
9

N
I
7
0

N
I
7
1

Page 108



A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
a
t
le

ve
l
4

o
r

a
b
o
ve

in
b
o
th

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
(T

h
re

s
h
o
ld

)
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
a
t
le

ve
l
5

o
r

a
b
o
ve

in
b
o
th

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e

3
(T

h
re

s
h
o
ld

)
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

5
o
r

m
o
re

A
*-

C
g
ra

d
e
s

a
t
G

C
S

E
o
r

e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t
in

c
lu

d
in

g
E

n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s

(T
h
re

s
h
o
ld

)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
a
t
le

ve
l
4

o
r

a
b
o
ve

in
b
o
th

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
a
t
K

S
2
(F

lo
o
r)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
a
t
le

ve
l
5

o
r

a
b
o
ve

in
b
o
th

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
a
t
K

S
3
(F

lo
o
r)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

5
o
r

m
o
re

A
*-

C
g
ra

d
e
s

a
t
G

C
S

E
a
n
d

e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
ti
n
c
lu

d
in

g
G

C
S

E
s

in

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
(F

lo
o
r)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
L
e
ve

l
2

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

a
g
e

o
f

1
9

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
L
e
ve

l
3

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

a
g
e

o
f

1
9

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

In
e
q
u
a
lit

y
g
a
p

in
 t
h
e

a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
L
e
ve

l
3

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

a
g
e

o
f

1
9

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

In
e
q
u
a
lit

y
g
a
p

in
 t
h
e

a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
L
e
ve

l
2

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

a
g
e

o
f

1
9

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

In
e
q
u
a
lit

y
g
a
p

in
 t
h
e

a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
L
e
ve

l
2

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

a
g
e

o
f

1
9

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

2
o
r

m
o
re

A
*-

C
g
ra

d
e
s

in
S

c
ie

n
c
e

G
C

S
E

s
o
r

e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
o
s
t-

1
6

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
p
h
ys

ic
a
l
s
c
ie

n
c
e
s

(A
L
e
ve

l
P

h
ys

ic
s
,
C

h
e
m

is
tr

y
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

s
c
h
o
o
ls

ju
d
g
e
d

a
s

h
a
vi

n
g

g
o
o
d

o
r

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
o
fb

e
h
a
vi

o
u
r

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

s
c
h
o
o
l
p
e
rs

is
te

n
t
a
b
s
e
n
c
e

ra
te

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

e
xt

e
n
d
e
d

s
c
h
o
o
ls

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

s
c
h
o
o
ls

in
s
p
e
c
ia

l
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
a
k
e

u
p

o
f

1
4
-1

9
le

a
rn

in
g

d
ip

lo
m

a
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

o
f

1
7

ye
a
r-

o
ld

s
in

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
a
rr

o
w

in
g
 t
h
e

g
a
p

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e

lo
w

e
s
t
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

2
0
%

in
 t
h
e

E
a
rl
yY

e
a
rs

 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n

S
ta

g
e

P
ro

fi
le

a
n
d
 t
h
e

re
s
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
9
2

N
I
8
8

N
I
8
9

N
I
9
0

N
I
9
1

N
I
8
4

N
I
8
5

N
I
8
6

N
I
8
7

N
I
8
0

N
I
8
1

N
I
8
2

N
I
8
3

N
I
7
6

N
I
7
7

N
I
7
8

N
I
7
9

N
I
7
3

N
I
7
4

N
I
7
5

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

O
fs

te
d

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

Page 109



P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
E

n
g
lis

h
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

1
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 2

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
M

a
th

s
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

1
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 2

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
E

n
g
lis

h
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 3

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
M

a
th

s
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 3

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
E

n
g
lis

h
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

3
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 4

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
b
y

2
le

ve
ls

in
M

a
th

s
b
e
tw

e
e
n

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

3
a
n
d

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e
 4

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

re
a
c
h
in

g
le

ve
l
4

in
E

n
g
lis

h
a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

re
a
c
h
in

g
le

ve
l
4

in
M

a
th

s
a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
h
ild

re
n

in
c
a
re

a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

5
A

*-
C

G
C

S
E

s
(o

r
e
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t)

a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e

4
(i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
E

n
g
lis

h

a
n
d

M
a
th

s
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
g
a
p

b
e
tw

e
e
n

p
u
p
ils

e
lig

ib
le

fo
r

fr
e
e

s
c
h
o
o
l
m

e
a
ls

a
n
d
th

e
ir

p
e
e
rs

a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 t
h
e

e
xp

e
c
te

d
le

ve
l
a
t
K

e
y

S
ta

g
e
s

2
a
n
d

4
P

S
A

1
1

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
p
e
c
ia

l
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l
N

e
e
d
s

–
s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

is
s
u
e
d

w
it
h
in

2
6

w
e
e
k
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
h
e

S
p
e
c
ia

l
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l
N

e
e
d
s

(S
E

N
)/

n
o
n
-S

E
N

g
a
p

–
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

K
e
yS

ta
g
e

2
E

n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s
 t
h
re

s
h
o
ld

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
h
e

S
p
e
c
ia

l
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l
N

e
e
d
s

(S
E

N
)/

n
o
n
-S

E
N

g
a
p

–
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

5
A

*-
C

G
C

S
E

in
c
.

E
n
g
lis

h
a
n
d

M
a
th

s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

Y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

fr
o
m

lo
w

in
c
o
m

e
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 t
o

h
ig

h
e
re

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

2
a
tt
a
in

m
e
n
t
fo

r
B

la
c
k

a
n
d

m
in

o
ri
ty

e
th

n
ic

g
ro

u
p
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

K
e
y

S
ta

g
e

4
a
tt
a
in

m
e
n
t
fo

r
B

la
c
k

a
n
d

m
in

o
ri
ty

e
th

n
ic

g
ro

u
p
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

S
u
re

S
ta

rt
C

h
ild

re
n

C
e
n
tr

e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

Y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

’s
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
p
o
s
it
iv

e
a
c
ti
vi

ti
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

F
ir
s
t 
ti
m

e
e
n
tr

a
n
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e

Y
o
u
th

J
u
s
ti
c
e

S
ys

te
m

a
g
e
d

1
0

–
1
7

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

A
re

a
N

/A

U
n
d
e
r

1
8

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n

ra
te

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
0
8

N
I
1
0
9

N
I
1
1
0

N
I
1
1
1

N
I
1
0
4

N
I
1
0
5

N
I
1
0
6

N
I
1
0
7

N
I
1
0
0

N
I
1
0
1

N
I
1
0
2

N
I
1
0
3

N
I
9
6

N
I
9
7

N
I
9
8

N
I
9
9

N
I
9
3

N
I
9
4

N
I
9
5

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

S
c
h
o
o
ls

w
it
h
in

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r

A
re

a

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

Y
o
u
th

O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
T

e
a
m

N
I
1
1
2

O
ff

ic
e

o
f

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
S

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s

Page 110



P
re

va
le

n
c
e

o
f

C
h
la

m
yd

ia
in

u
n
d
e
r

2
0

ye
a
r

o
ld

s
P

ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

R
a
te

o
f

p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t
e
xc

lu
s
io

n
s

fr
o
m

s
c
h
o
o
l

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e

m
is

u
s
e

b
y

yo
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

in
p
o
ve

rt
y

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

1
6
 t
o

1
8

ye
a
r

o
ld

s
w

h
o

a
re

n
o
t
in

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr

a
in

in
g

o
r

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t(

N
E

E
T

)
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
a
k
e

u
p

o
f

fo
rm

a
l
c
h
ild

c
a
re

b
y

lo
w

-i
n
c
o
m

e
w

o
rk

in
g

fa
m

ili
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

S
e
lf
-r

e
p
o
rt

e
d

m
e
a
s
u
re

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

’s
o
ve

ra
ll

h
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

w
e
llb

e
in

g
D

is
tr

ic
t
A

re
a

B
V

P
I
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

S
u
rv

e
y

A
ll-

a
g
e

a
ll

c
a
u
s
e

m
o
rt

a
lit

y
ra

te
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

M
o
rt

a
lit

y
ra

te
fr

o
m

a
ll

c
ir
c
u
la

to
ry

d
is

e
a
s
e
s

a
t
a
g
e
s

u
n
d
e
r

7
5

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

M
o
rt

a
lit

y
fr

o
m

a
ll

c
a
n
c
e
rs

a
t
a
g
e
s

u
n
d
e
r

7
5

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

1
6
+

c
u
rr

e
n
t
s
m

o
k
in

g
ra

te
p
re

va
le

n
c
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
A

re
a

N
/A

P
e
o
p
le

w
it
h

a
lo

n
g
-t

e
rm

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o

b
e

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
a
n
d

in
c
o
n
tr

o
l
o
f 

th
e
ir

c
o
n
d
it
io

n

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e

fo
r

o
ld

e
r

p
e
o
p
le

 t
h
ro

u
g
h

re
h
a
b
ili

ta
ti
o
n
/i
n
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
c
a
re

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

E
a
rl
y

a
c
c
e
s
s

fo
r

w
o
m

e
n
 t
o

m
a
te

rn
it
y

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
e
lf

re
p
o
rt

e
d

e
xp

e
ri
e
n
c
e

o
f

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

u
s
e
rs

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

U
s
e
r

re
p
o
rt

e
d

m
e
a
s
u
re

o
f

re
s
p
e
c
t
a
n
d

d
ig

n
it
y

in
 t
h
e
ir
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

(p
o
s
s
ib

ly

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a
)

N
o
n
e

E
n
d

o
f

lif
e

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

p
a
lli

a
ti
ve

c
a
re

e
n
a
b
lin

g
p
e
o
p
le

 t
o

c
h
o
o
s
e
 t
o

d
ie

a
th

o
m

e
P

ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

c
lie

n
ts

re
c
e
iv

in
g

S
e
lf

D
ir
e
c
te

d
S

u
p
p
o
rt

(D
ir
e
c
t
P

a
ym

e
n
ts

a
n
d
 I
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l

B
u
d
g
e
ts

)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
2
7

N
I
1
2
8

N
I
1
2
9

N
I
1
3
0

N
I
1
2
3

N
I
1
2
4

N
I
1
2
5

N
I
1
2
6

N
I
1
1
4

N
I
1
1
5

N
I
1
1
6

N
I
1
1
7

N
I
1
1
3

H
e
a
lt
h

P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
C

h
ild

re
n
,

S
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
W

o
rk

a
n
d

P
e
n
s
io

n
s

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

N
I
1
1
8

A
d

u
lt

H
e
a
lt

h
a
n

d
 W

e
ll
b

e
in

g
,
T

a
c
k
li
n

g
E

x
c
lu

s
io

n
a
n

d
P

ro
m

o
ti

n
g

E
q

u
a
li
ty

H
M

R
e
ve

n
u
e

a
n
d

C
u
s
to

m
s

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

N
I
1
1
9

N
I
1
2
0

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
C

e
n
tr

e
fo

r
H

e
a
lt
h

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
C

e
n
tr

e
fo

r
H

e
a
lt
h

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
C

e
n
tr

e
fo

r
H

e
a
lt
h

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s

N
I
1
2
1

N
I
1
2
2

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

(p
o
s
s
ib

ly

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
C

e
n
tr

e
fo

r
H

e
a
lt
h

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

Page 111



D
e
la

ye
d
 t
ra

n
s
fe

rs
o
f

c
a
re

fr
o
m

h
o
s
p
it
a
ls

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
im

e
lin

e
s
s

o
f

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
im

e
lin

e
s
s

o
f

s
o
c
ia

l
c
a
re

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y

b
e
d

d
a
ys

p
e
r

h
e
a
d

o
f

w
e
ig

h
te

d
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
a
n
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
a
re

rs
re

c
e
iv

in
g

n
e
e
d
s

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
o
r

re
vi

e
w

a
n
d

a
s
p
e
c
if
ic

c
a
re

r’
s
s
e
rv

ic
e
,
o
r

a
d
vi

c
e

a
n
d

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
e
o
p
le

s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o

liv
e

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y 

th
ro

u
g
h

s
o
c
ia

l
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

(a
lla

g
e
s
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

H
e
a
lt
h
y

lif
e

e
xp

e
c
ta

n
c
y

a
t
a
g
e

6
5

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

o
ve

r
6
5

w
it
h

b
o
th

h
o
m

e
a
n
d

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

P
e
o
p
le

o
ve

r
6
5

w
h
o

s
a
y 

th
a
t 
th

e
y

re
c
e
iv

e
 t
h
e

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
,
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
a
n
d

s
u
p
p
o
rt

n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o

e
xe

rc
is

e
c
h
o
ic

e
a
n
d

c
o
n
tr

o
l 
to

liv
e

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

F
a
ir
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t
b
y

lo
c
a
l
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vu
ln

e
ra

b
le

p
e
o
p
le

a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
liv

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vu
ln

e
ra

b
le

p
e
o
p
le

w
h
o

a
re

s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o

m
a
in

ta
in

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
liv

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

O
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

u
n
d
e
r

p
ro

b
a
ti
o
n

s
u
p
e
rv

is
io

n
liv

in
g

in
s
e
tt
le

d
a
n
d

s
u
it
a
b
le

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

a
t 
th

e

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e
ir

o
rd

e
r

o
r

lic
e
n
c
e

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

O
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

u
n
d
e
r

p
ro

b
a
ti
o
n

s
u
p
e
rv

is
io

n
in

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t
a
t 
th

e
e
n
d

o
ft

h
e
ir

o
rd

e
r

o
r

lic
e
n
c
e

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
d
u
lt
s

w
it
h

le
a
rn

in
g

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s

in
s
e
tt
le

d
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
d
u
lt
s

w
it
h

le
a
rn

in
g

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s

in
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
a
re

le
a
ve

rs
in

s
u
it
a
b
le

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
a
re

le
a
ve

rs
in

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t,

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
d
u
lt
s

in
c
o
n
ta

c
t
w

it
h

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

m
e
n
ta

l
h
e
a
lt
h

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

in
s
e
tt
le

d
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

A
d
u
lt
s

in
c
o
n
ta

c
t
w

it
h

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

m
e
n
ta

l
h
e
a
lt
h

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

in
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
4
5

N
I
1
4
6

N
I
1
4
7

N
I
1
4
8

N
I
1
3
5

N
I
1
3
6

N
I
1
3
7

N
I
1
3
8

N
I
1
3
1

N
I
1
3
2

N
I
1
3
3

N
I
1
3
4

N
H

S
O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

L
S

P
/E

F
D

C
(P

la
c
e

S
u
rv

e
y)

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

N
I
1
4
1

N
I
1
3
9

N
I
1
4
0

N
I
1
4
2

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
O

ff
e
n
d
e
r

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
O

ff
e
n
d
e
r

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e

N
I
1
4
3

N
I
1
4
4

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

C
e
n
tr

e
fo

r

H
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

M
e
n
ta

l
H

e
a
lt
h

T
ru

s
t

M
e
n
ta

l
H

e
a
lt
h

T
ru

s
t

N
I
1
4
9

N
I
1
5
0

Page 112



O
ve

ra
ll

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t
ra

te
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
e
o
p
le

o
n

o
u
t
o
f

w
o
rk

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
e
o
p
le

c
la

im
in

g
o
u
t
o
f

w
o
rk

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

in
 t
h
e

w
o
rs

t
p
e
rf

o
rm

in
g

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

N
e
t
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
h
o
m

e
s

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
m

e
s

d
e
liv

e
re

d
(g

ro
s
s
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

L
P

IH
1
5

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
liv

in
g

in
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

L
P

I
H

1
0

P
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

a
s

m
e
a
s
u
re

d
a
g
a
in

s
t 
ta

rg
e
ts

fo
r‘
m

a
jo

r’
,
‘m

in
o
r’

a
n
d

‘o
th

e
r’

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 t
yp

e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

1
0
9

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

d
e
c
e
n
t
c
o
u
n
c
il

h
o
m

e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

1
8
4

S
u
p
p
ly

o
f

re
a
d
y 

to
d
e
ve

lo
p

h
o
u
s
in

g
s
it
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

L
o
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

’
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

la
n
d
lo

rd
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

L
P

I
H

3

L
e
a
rn

e
rs

a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

a
L
e
ve

l
1

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

in
lit

e
ra

c
y

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

L
e
a
rn

e
rs

a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g

a
n

E
n
tr

y
L
e
ve

l
3

q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n

in
n
u
m

e
ra

c
y

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

q
u
a
lif

ie
d
 t
o

a
t
le

a
s
t
L
e
ve

l
2

o
r

h
ig

h
e
r

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

A
re

a
N

/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

q
u
a
lif

ie
d
 t
o

a
t
le

a
s
t
L
e
ve

l
3

o
r

h
ig

h
e
r

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

A
re

a
N

/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

q
u
a
lif

ie
d
 t
o

a
t
le

a
s
t
L
e
ve

l
4

o
r

h
ig

h
e
r

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

A
re

a
N

/A

A
ve

ra
g
e

e
a
rn

in
g
s

o
f

e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

C
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n

–
a
ve

ra
g
e

jo
u
rn

e
y 

ti
m

e
p
e
r

m
ile

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

m
o
rn

in
g

p
e
a
k

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
ri
n
c
ip

a
l
ro

a
d
s

w
h
e
re

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

s
h
o
u
ld

b
e

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
6
8

N
I
1
6
4

N
I
1
6
5

N
I
1
6
6

N
I
1
6
7

N
I
1
6
0

N
I
1
6
1

N
I
1
6
2

N
I
1
6
3

N
I
1
5
6

N
I
1
5
7

N
I
1
5
8

N
I
1
5
9

N
I
1
5
2

N
I
1
5
3

N
I
1
5
4

N
I
1
5
5

O
ff

ic
e

fo
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s

L
o

c
a
l
E

c
o

n
o

m
y

a
n

d
E

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
S

ta
b

il
it

y

N
I
1
5
1

J
o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
P

lu
s

J
o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
P

lu
s

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

E
F

D
C

E
F

D
C

E
F

D
C

E
F

D
C

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

E
F

D
C

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r 
In

n
o
va

ti
o
n
,

U
n
iv

e
rs

it
ie

s
a
n
d

S
k
ill

s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r 
In

n
o
va

ti
o
n
,

U
n
iv

e
rs

it
ie

s
a
n
d

S
k
ill

s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r 
In

n
o
va

ti
o
n
,

U
n
iv

e
rs

it
ie

s
a
n
d

S
k
ill

s

O
ff

ic
e

fo
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

Page 113



N
o
n
-p

ri
n
c
ip

a
l
ro

a
d
s

w
h
e
re

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

s
h
o
u
ld

b
e

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

P
re

vi
o
u
s
ly

d
e
ve

lo
p
e
d

la
n
d
 t
h
a
t
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

va
c
a
n
t
o
r

d
e
re

lic
t
fo

r
m

o
re

 t
h
a
n

5
ye

a
rs

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

V
A

T
re

g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

ra
te

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

V
A

T
re

g
is

te
re

d
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
s
h
o
w

in
g

g
ro

w
th

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

P
e
o
p
le

fa
lli

n
g

o
u
t
o
f

w
o
rk

a
n
d

o
n
 t
o

in
c
a
p
a
c
it
y

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

S
k
ill

s
g
a
p
s

in
 t
h
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
re

p
o
rt

e
d

b
y

e
m

p
lo

ye
rs

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

A
re

a
N

/A

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

a
n
d

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s

b
y

p
u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

,
w

a
lk

in
g

a
n
d

c
yc

lin
g

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

W
o
rk

in
g

a
g
e

p
e
o
p
le

w
it
h

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t
b
y

p
u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

(a
n
d

o
th

e
r

s
p
e
c
if
ie

d

m
o
d
e
s
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

L
o
c
a
l
b
u
s

p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r

jo
u
rn

e
ys

o
ri
g
in

a
ti
n
g

in
 t
h
e

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

a
re

a
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

B
u
s

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

ru
n
n
in

g
o
n
 t
im

e
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

V
a
lu

e
fo

r
m

o
n
e
y

–
 t
o
ta

l
n
e
t
va

lu
e

o
f

o
n
-g

o
in

g
c
a
s
h
-r

e
le

a
s
in

g
va

lu
e

fo
r

m
o
n
e
y

g
a
in

s
 t
h
a
t

h
a
ve

im
p
a
c
te

d
s
in

c
e
 t
h
e

s
ta

rt
o
f 

th
e

2
0
0
8
/0

9
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
ye

a
r

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

C
h
a
n
g
e
s

in
H

o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
t/

C
o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n
e
fi
t
e
n
ti
tl
e
m

e
n
ts

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

ye
a
r

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

7
8

T
im

e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o

p
ro

c
e
s
s

n
e
w

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
t/
C

o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
s

a
n
d

c
h
a
n
g
e

e
ve

n
ts

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

7
8

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

o
f

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s

w
it
h

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

re
g
u
la

ti
o
n

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

Im
p
a
c
t
o
f

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

re
g
u
la

to
ry

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

o
n
 t
h
e

fa
ir
 t
ra

d
in

g
e
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

F
o
o
d

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
ts

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
w

h
ic

h
a
re

b
ro

a
d
ly

c
o
m

p
lia

n
t
w

it
h

fo
o
d

h
yg

ie
n
e

la
w

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

C
O

2
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n

fr
o
m

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

P
e
r

c
a
p
it
a

C
O

2
e
m

is
s
io

n
s

in
 t
h
e

L
A

a
re

a
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
8
6

N
I
1
8
0

N
I
1
8
1

N
I
1
8
2

N
I
1
8
3

N
I
1
7
6

N
I
1
7
7

N
I
1
7
8

N
I
1
7
9

N
I
1
7
2

N
I
1
7
3

N
I
1
7
4

N
I
1
7
5

N
I
1
6
9

N
I
1
7
0

N
I
1
7
1

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

O
ff

ic
e

fo
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s

O
ff

ic
e

fo
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

S
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r
W

o
rk

a
n
d

P
e
n
s
io

n
s

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
C

o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

E
F

D
C

E
F

D
C

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

N
I
1
8
4

N
I
1
8
5

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
fo

r

E
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
t,
 F

o
o
d

a
n
d

R
u
ra

l
A

ff
a
ir
s

Page 114



T
a
c
k
lin

g
fu

e
l
p
o
ve

rt
y

–
p
e
o
p
le

re
c
e
iv

in
g

in
c
o
m

e
b
a
s
e
d

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

liv
in

g
in

h
o
m

e
s

w
it
h

a
lo

w

e
n
e
rg

y
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

ra
ti
n
g

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

A
d
a
p
ti
n
g
 t
o

c
lim

a
te

c
h
a
n
g
e

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

F
lo

o
d

a
n
d

c
o
a
s
ta

l
e
ro

s
io

n
ri
s
k

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
in

m
e
e
ti
n
g

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
fo

r 
th

e
c
o
n
tr

o
l
s
ys

te
m

fo
r

a
n
im

a
l
h
e
a
lt
h

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

R
e
s
id

u
a
l
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

p
e
r

h
e
a
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

8
4

H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

re
c
yc

le
d

a
n
d

c
o
m

p
o
s
te

d
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

8
2

M
u
n
ic

ip
a
l
w

a
s
te

la
n
d

fi
lle

d
W

a
s
te

D
is

p
o
s
a
l
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

A
re

a
N

/A

L
e
ve

l
o
f

a
ir

q
u
a
lit

y
–

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
N

O
x

a
n
d

p
ri
m

a
ry

P
M

1
0

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h

lo
c
a
l

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

’s
e
s
ta

te
a
n
d

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
.

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

Im
p
ro

ve
d

s
tr

e
e
t
a
n
d

e
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
c
le

a
n
lin

e
s
s

(l
e
ve

ls
o
f

g
ra

ff
it
i,

lit
te

r,
d
e
tr

it
u
s

a
n
d

fl
y

p
o
s
ti
n
g
)

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

1
9
9

Im
p
ro

ve
d

s
tr

e
e
t
a
n
d

e
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
c
le

a
n
lin

e
s
s

–
fl
y 

ti
p
p
in

g
S

in
g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

B
V

1
9
9

Im
p
ro

ve
d

lo
c
a
l
b
io

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

–
a
c
ti
ve

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
o
f

lo
c
a
l
s
it
e
s

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t
A

re
a

N
o
n
e

C
h
ild

re
n
 t
ra

ve
lli

n
g
 t
o

s
c
h
o
o
l
–

m
o
d
e

o
f 

tr
a
ve

l
u
s
u
a
lly

u
s
e
d

S
in

g
le

T
ie

r
A

re
a

N
/A

N
I
1
9
8

N
I
1
9
4

N
I
1
9
5

N
I
1
9
6

N
I
1
9
7

N
I
1
9
0

N
I
1
9
1

N
I
1
9
2

N
I
1
9
3

N
I
1
8
7

N
I
1
8
8

N
I
1
8
9

E
F

D
C

N
E

W

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

E
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
t
A

g
e
n
c
y

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

E
s
s
e
x

C
o
u
n
ty

C
o
u
n
c
il/

E
F

D
C

N
E

W
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

Page 115



Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Notes from the Previous Meeting - 14 January 2008
	6 Terms of Reference / Work Programme
	Work Programme

	7 Key Performance Indicators 2007/08 - Quarterly Performance Monitoring
	KPI Appendix 1
	KPI - Appendix 2

	8 Use of Resources Assessment - Auditor Judgements 2007
	Appendix 1

	9 Best Value Performance Plan 2008/09 - Summary Version
	BVPP Appendix 1

	10 Quarterly Financial Monitoring
	Qtr Mon Annex 1-9
	Qtr Mon Annex 10-15

	11 National Outcome and Indicator Set
	Annex for Nat Outcome & Indicator Set


